

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-13-2024

# Perceived Connectivity, Perceived Internal Locus of Control, and Age as Predictors of Persistence in Online Master's Degree Programs

Michelle Burnside Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Michelle A. Burnside

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. John Deaton, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jeremy Grabbe, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2024

#### Abstract

Perceived Connectivity, Perceived Internal Locus of Control, and Age as Predictors of

Persistence in Online Master's Degree Programs

by

Michelle A. Burnside

MPhil, Walden University, 2021 MA, National Louis University, 2010 MA, National Louis University, 1993 BA, National Louis University, 1991

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

February 2024

#### Abstract

Persistence in distance learning has become problematic. This quantitative nonexperimental study examined whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. Rotter's locus of control theory, Moore's transactional distance theory, and Rovai's composite persistence model provided the theoretical and conceptual frameworks. A sample of 68 participants completed a survey comprised of the Online Student Connectedness Survey, the Internal Control Index, the Grit Scale, and demographic questions. The findings of the multiple linear regression indicated that the predictor variables, connectivity, internal locus of control, and age, had a statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable, persistence. The R square value indicated that 27.9% of the variability in the criterion variable was explained by the combination of the predictor variables. The effect size for the regression model, the adjusted R square value, indicated that 24.5% of the variability of the criterion variable was explained by the combination of the three predictor variables. The findings of the Independent Samples *t*-Test indicated that the means varied for the three predictor variables between the two completed education levels, bachelor's degree, and master's degree, respectively. Persisting until completion of an advanced online degree program benefits learners and postsecondary institutions, as well as society. Advanced online degree completion promotes positive social change. It enhances the employment prospects of individuals from diverse backgrounds. Moreover, individuals who complete their advanced online degree programs gain the requisite knowledge and skills needed to improve conditions within their communities.

### Perceived Connectivity, Perceived Internal Locus of Control, and Age as Predictors of

#### Persistence in Online Master's Degree Programs

by

Michelle A. Burnside

MPhil, Walden University, 2021

MA, National Louis University, 2010

MA, National Louis University, 1993

BA, National Louis University, 1991

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

February 2024

#### Dedication

I want to give thanks to the heavenly father for all his blessings as I worked to attain my Ph.D. My thanks and appreciation to my husband, Willie, for all his support and encouragement through the years. I also want to thank my children Tiffany, William, and Heather, my son-in-law, David, my mother-in-law, Mamie, and my dear friend, Dr. Dorenda Dixon, for their encouragement to complete my program.

My thanks also go to my mother and father who instilled the importance of an education. Also, my thanks to my father-in-law for his encouragement to complete my program, and my sister, who inspired a love of reading in me as a child that continues to this day.

### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Deaton and Dr. Grabbe. I

appreciate your guidance and encouragement as I worked to complete my Ph.D. program.

ist of Tablesv
ist of Figures vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
The Purpose of the Study4
Research Questions and Hypotheses5
Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks6
Nature of the Study7
Significance
Terms and Definitions9
Assumptions12
Scope and Delimitations12
Limitations13
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review16
Introduction16
Strategies for the Literature Search16
Locus of Control17
Academic Performance17
Moore's Transactional Distance Theory18
Minimizing the Distance

## Table of Contents

Other Perspectives
Rovai's Composite Model
Connectivity in Online Programs
Connectivity, Retention, and Persistence
Connectivity and Online Identity
Connectivity and Course Design
Connectivity and Instructor Presence
Retention and Persistence in Distance Education
The Importance of Retention
Persistence and Interaction
Persistence and Social Presence
Persistence and Community
Persistence and Instructor Presence
Engagement in Distance Education
Benefits of Engagement
Engagement and Interaction
Research on Interaction in Distance Education
Interaction in Distance Education
Learners' Interaction Preferences
Community in Distance Education
Community and Interaction
Community and Online Technologies40

Attrition, Isolation, and Disconnectedness in Distance Education	42
Attrition and Lack of Interaction	
Isolation and Disconnectedness in Online Courses	43
Diminishing Perceptions of Isolation	
Chapter 3: Research Method	46
Introduction	46
Study Purpose	46
Research Design and Rationale	46
Instrumentation	47
Methodology	50
Data Analysis	50
Multiple Linear Regression Assumptions	
Research Questions and Hypotheses	52
Sampling Procedures	53
Study Population	53
Study Recruitment	54
Power Analysis	55
Ethical Considerations	56
Study Limitations	56
Chapter 4: Results	
Introduction	58

Data Collection	60
Multiple Linear Regression Assumptions Testing	63
Results	68
Descriptive Statistics	68
Summary	76
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	79
Introduction	79
Interpretation of the Findings	79
Limitations of the Findings	83
Recommendations	84
Positive Social Change Implications	85
Conclusions	86
References	87
Appendix: Title of Appendix	103

## List of Tables

Table 1. Coefficients <sup>a</sup>	67
Table 2. Correlations	71
Table 3. Model Summary <sup>b</sup>	72
Table 4. ANOVA <sup>a</sup>	73
Table 5. Group Statistics	74
Table 6. Independent Samples Test	76

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Scatterplot of Persistence by Connectivity	
Figure 2. Scatterplot of Persistence by ILOC	64
Figure 3. Scatterplot of Persistence by What is your age?	65
Figure 4. Scatterplot of Persistence by Standardized Residual	66
Figure 5. Histogram	67
Figure 6. Normal Q-Q Plot of Standardized Residual	68

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

#### Introduction

Persistence in distance learning has become problematic. In the context of adult education, persistence relates to how long adults attend their courses (Rovai, 2003). In this study, persistence pertains to learners enrolling in an online degree program until program completion.

Findings from a number of studies have indicated that rates of persistence for courses delivered online continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-to-face (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Accordingly, developing approaches to ameliorate persistence has gained importance. Moreover, the rapid growth of distance learning courses, along with their attendant low rates of persistence, is an issue that ought to be highly relevant to learners, educators, and postsecondary institutions (Lakhal et al., 2021).

This chapter identifies the gap in the research that explains why the study is needed. It also provides background and the problem statement. In addition, this chapter presents the research questions and hypotheses, the theoretical and conceptual frameworks, the nature of the study, its significance, terms and definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, and limitations.

#### Background

In this study, I examined whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. Connectivity, as conceptualized by Schroeder et al. (2016), is learners' perceptions of community as well as involvement in distance settings. This corresponds to Gallien and Oomen-Early's (2008) description of connectedness. Connectedness relates to an individual's perceptions of belonging or perceptions of presence or support, as well as the extent of communication or interactivity with the instructor (Gallien & Oomen-Early, 2008).

Jamison and Bolliger (2020) stated that study findings have indicated that a high degree of connectedness and interactivity is associated with increased retention as well as learner satisfaction in courses that are offered online. LaBarbera (2013) cited other researchers who felt that retention in distance learning could be reinforced by learners experiencing an increased perception of connectedness or community with other learners and faculty. In addition, other study findings have indicated that feeling connected lessens perceptions of isolation and improves academic performance and program completion (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020).

Lee et al. (2013) used Rovai's (2003) composite persistence model for their study's theoretical framework. This model was composed of internal factors, and Lee et al. stated that locus of control is one of the factors that predicts persistence in online courses. Gokcearslan and Alper (2015) conducted a study to ascertain how locus of control influences certain aspects of behavior such as individuals' feelings of community in online programs as well as their academic performance. Gokcearslan and Alper cited findings of previous studies which indicated that locus of control influences various aspects of online learning.

Individuals' perceptions of control can be either internal or external. Individuals with internal perceptions of control attribute outcomes, good or bad, to their own

behavior. Conversely, individuals with external perceptions of control attribute outcomes to external events, the environment, or other individuals (Lee & Choi, 2011). Rotter (1990) called these internal and external perceptions a locus of control. Lee and Choi (2011) stated that previous research findings have indicated that an internal locus of control is predictive of learner persistence and completion in online courses. In addition, Lee et al. (2013) stated that findings from numerous studies have indicated that an internal locus of control correlates positively with persistence in an online setting.

Rovai's (2003) composite model of persistence included age as one of the learner attributes related to persistence in distance learning. Lakhal et al. (2021) stated that findings from earlier studies varied on how age or other learner attributes influence persistence in courses delivered online. Lakhal et al. examined various factors, including age, to ascertain whether they have an effect on persistence in postsecondary distance learning courses. For one analysis, the participants were divided into two groups based on their ages. In one group, participants were 25 years old or younger (n = 300). In the second group, the participants were 26 years old or older (n = 459). The findings indicated that learners' satisfaction in distance learning courses had a greater effect on persistence among learners who were older and learners who had previous experience with distance learning courses (Lakhal et al., 2021).

#### **Problem Statement**

Persistence in distance learning has become problematic. Distance learning programs at universities and colleges have expanded and are now commonly used to deliver instructional content (Milman et al., 2015). Findings from recent studies have shown that 29% of learners in the United States enrolled solely in distance learning courses (Ginder et al., 2018). However, findings from various studies have indicated that rates of persistence for such courses continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-to-face (Muljana & Luo, 2019).

Learners in online courses are separated physically, which differs from learners in traditional courses (Bollinger & Inan, 2012; Jamison & Bolliger, 2020; Rovai & Wighting, 2005). Participating in courses and connecting with faculty and other learners requires additional effort (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020). Because of this, connectivity has become an integral aspect of online learning environments where online presence must be established. Connectivity, as described by Schroeder et al. (2016), is learners' perceptions of community as well as involvement in distance settings. However, the gap in the research of whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs has not been examined.

#### The Purpose of the Study

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. The predictor variables were perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age. The criterion variable was persistence. The predictor variables, as well as the criterion variable, were measured as continuous variables (Segrin, 2012).

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: To what extent will perceived connectivity predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_0$ 1: Perceived connectivity will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{\rm A}$ 1: Perceived connectivity will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ2: To what extent will perceived internal locus of control predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_02$ : Perceived internal locus of control will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A2$ : Perceived internal locus of control will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ3: To what extent will age predict persistence in online master's degree

programs?

 $H_03$ : Age will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{A3}$ : Age will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ4: To what extent will the means vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program?

 $H_04$ : The means will not vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

 $H_A$ 4: The means will vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

#### **Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks**

This quantitative study with a nonexperimental design was grounded by theoretical frameworks from Rotter's (1966) locus of control theory and Moore's (1997) transactional distance theory; Rovai's (2003) composite persistence model provided the conceptual framework. Rotter conceptualized locus of control to explain how individuals develop expectancies, or expectations, in situations based on how the expectancies are reinforced. Rotter developed a scale for measuring and assessing locus of control, external and internal. Findings from myriad studies have indicated that internal locus of control correlates positively to persistence in distance learning environments (Lee et al., 2013). Similarly, Joo et al. (2013) stated that learners with an internal locus of control have a strong resolve to carry on with their education.

Moore (1997) posited that learners and instructors in distance learning courses are geographically separated, which can result in psychological gaps as well as misinterpretations between learners and instructors. Moore called this transactional distance and discussed how increased discourse could bring about lower transactional distance and lessen learners' perceptions of isolation. Bolliger and Halupa (2018) explained that distance learners experience a higher rate of dropout, which may be caused by transactional distance. Bolliger and Halupa posited that distance learners' engagement can help minimize transactional distance and avert isolation, as well as dropout.

Rovai (2003) constructed a composite model to explain attrition and persistence for nontraditional learners in distance learning programs. Rovai related that a lack of sense of community corresponds to learners feeling isolated or less connected in their distance courses. In Rovai's composite model of persistence, age is one the learner attributes related to persistence in distance learning. In Chapter 2, I present a review of the literature relating to internal locus of control, transactional distance, and connectivity, and their relevance to persistence in online master's degree programs.

#### Nature of the Study

This quantitative nonexperimental study examined whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. I collected cross-sectional data via three survey instruments and demographic data which the study participants provided. To analyze the data, I used multiple linear regression. Individuals' perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age, continuous predictor variables, were measured. Persistence was the continuous criterion variable that was measured. Predictor variables and criterion variables in a multiple linear regression can be measured as continuous variables (Segrin, 2012). The participants were individuals who have completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years. The participants answered four questions which provided demographic information for the study. The participants provided their age, highest completed level of education (bachelor's degree or master's degree), gender, and preferred instructional format. I performed an Independent Samples *t*-Test to see if the means varied for the continuous predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between the two completed education levels, bachelor's degree and master's degree, respectively.

#### Significance

Choi and Park (2018) related that online course delivery has expanded appreciably. However, findings from various studies have indicated that rates of persistence for such courses continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-to-face (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Moreover, the rapid growth of distance learning courses, along with their attendant low rates of persistence, is an issue that ought to be highly relevant to learners, educators, and postsecondary institutions (Lakhal et al., 2021).

Determining the learners' completion rate is, to some extent, a way of establishing the quality of a program (Willging & Johnson, 2004). Lower retention rates in programs negatively affect efforts toward recruiting students and promoting programs (Willging & Johnson, 2004). Low levels of retention are ascribed to lower performance within postsecondary institutions. This can impact such institutions' capacity to obtain government-related funding (Haydarov et al., 2013).

This study could provide insights that would help researchers, online educators, online course designers, and online program administrators to improve the quality of

design practices and pedagogic practices in distance learning programs and ameliorate persistence and graduation rates. Persisting until completion of an advanced online degree program benefits learners and postsecondary institutions, as well as society. Advanced degree completion promotes positive social change. It enhances the employment prospects of individuals from diverse backgrounds. Moreover, individuals who complete their advanced online degree programs gain the requisite knowledge and skills needed to improve conditions within their communities.

#### **Terms and Definitions**

*Asynchronous communication:* This type of communication can occur any time and does not require interactions to occur in actual time simultaneously, such as email, online discussions, and blogs (Croxton, 2014).

*Attrition*: Learners in a course or program gradually decrease in total (Haydarov et al., 2013).

*Connectedness*: In courses delivered online, connectedness involves interaction among learners, faculty, and peers, working interdependently to attain objectives for learning (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020). Green et al. (2017) stated that findings from previous studies have substantiated the idea that learners' connectedness relates to positive outcomes and persistence.

*Connectivity*: Schroeder et al. (2016) conceptualized connectivity as learners' perceptions of community as well as involvement in distance settings.

*Interactivity*: Interactivity is involved in varying circumstances and may be asynchronous as well as synchronous. Some modes of interactivity are interaction

between instructor and student, student and student, and student and technology (Singh & Thurman, 2019). Croxton (2014) explained that interactivity within online courses involves interaction that is formal as well as informal. Interactivity that is formal involves interactions between learners, learners and the instructor, and learners and the course content (Croxton, 2014). Interaction that takes place informally includes similar aspects (Croxton, 2014).

*Internal locus of control*: Internal locus of control, according to Armstrong et al. (2021), is the idea that the capacity to attain results is attributable to one's behavior. Lee and Choi (2011) explained that individuals with an internal locus of control perceive that their behavior is a determinant of outcomes in their lives. In addition, findings from previous studies have indicated that learners with an internal locus of control tend to persevere and finish their online classes (Lee & Choi, 2011).

*Isolation*: According to Sorensen and Donovan (2017), learners can feel disconnected and isolated in the course when instructors lack presence in the online course, interact infrequently with learners during discussions, or provide insufficient feedback regarding assignments. Armstrong et al. (2021) explained that motivation is an important aspect of online settings because learners experience isolation along with diminished interactivity and support from other learners as well as the instructor. However, when learners perceive a connection to other learners in an online setting, their perceptions of isolation are minimized, which can lead to program completion (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020). *Online learning*: Singh and Thurman (2019) analyzed numerous, widely used definitions from literature pertaining to online learning. They explained that such learning is characterized by several main facets: technology, time, interactivity, distance that is physical, and the educational setting (Singh & Thurman, 2019). Online learning can be carried out via the Internet or computers that are online. It can occur in a classroom that is synchronous, or a setting that is asynchronous, and does not rely on learners being physically located in the same space (Singh & Thurman, 2019).

*Persistence*: In terms of persistence in courses delivered online, there is no consensus among researchers and postsecondary institutions for a single definition (Lakhal et al., 2021). Lakhal et al. (2021) explained that the ways in which persistence is defined vary from study to study. In the context of adult education, Rovai (2003) related that persistence pertains to how long adults attend their courses. Verdinelli and Kutner (2016) stated that persistence, within an online setting, is a concept that is multifaceted. It relates to a learner's postsecondary efforts to achieve educational goals and graduate. Glazer and Murphy (2015) described persistence as successfully finishing courses as well as enrolling continuously. In addition, Hart's 2014 review of literature on persistence in online courses explored persistence as an occurrence that involves myriad aspects and brings about completion of a program that is delivered online. In this study, persistence pertains to learners enrolling in an online degree program until program completion.

*Retention*: This term refers to whether an institution can maintain student enrollments (Haydarov et al., 2013).

*Synchronous communication:* This type of communication occurs in actual time, such as chats taking place online and video conferencing (Croxton, 2014). Daily-Herbert (2018) explained that interaction in online courses may be synchronous; it takes place in actual real time. Learners can have real-time chats or participate in video conferences or webinars. Synchronous interactions also allow learners to collaborate, receive instructor feedback without delays, talk to instructors during their office hours, and participate in realities that are virtual or augmented.

#### Assumptions

I assume that the individuals I recruited for this study met the criteria for inclusion in the study. I also assume they responded accurately and truthfully. They completed a master's degree from an online program within the last 5 years, or they enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years. I also assume the quantitative design and methodology I used were appropriate for the study. These assumptions underlie the aim of the study, which was to examine whether learners' perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence within an online master's degree program.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of this quantitative study focused on the independent variables, perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age, and the dependent variable, persistence. The study examined whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. This study was delimited to individuals who have completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years.

#### Limitations

To obtain participants, I used convenience sampling. Convenience samples are a type of nonprobability sampling and tend to be less generalizable. Consequently, it may be difficult to ascertain if the sample selected represents the population that is under study (Bigsby, 2018). In addition, using a nonprobability sample can cause difficulties in determining sampling error and finding to what extent the sample is similar to, or differs from, the target population (Bigsby, 2018).

#### Summary

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. Findings from a number of studies have indicated that rates of persistence for courses delivered online continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-toface (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Accordingly, developing approaches to ameliorate persistence has gained importance. Moreover, the rapid growth of distance learning courses, along with their attendant low rates of persistence, is an issue that ought to be highly relevant to learners, educators, and postsecondary institutions (Lakhal et al., 2021).

Learners in online courses are separated physically, which differs from learners in traditional courses (Bollinger & Inan, 2012; Jamison & Bolliger, 2020; Rovai & Wighting, 2005). Consequently, connectivity is an integral aspect of online learning environments where online presence must be established. The gap in the research is whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. Schroeder et al. (2016) described connectivity as learners' perceptions of community as well as involvement in distance settings.

This quantitative study with a nonexperimental design was grounded by theoretical frameworks from Rotter's (1966) locus of control theory and Moore's (1997) transactional distance theory, and the conceptual framework provided by Rovai's (2003) composite persistence model. Findings from myriad studies have indicated that internal locus of control correlates positively to persistence in distance learning environments (Lee et al., 2013). Similarly, Joo et al. (2013) stated that learners with an internal locus of control have a strong resolve to carry on with their education.

Moore (1997) posited that learners and instructors in distance learning courses are geographically separated, which can result in psychological gaps as well as possible misinterpretations between learners and instructors. Moore called this transactional distance and discussed how increased discourse could bring about lower transactional distance and lessen learners' perceptions of isolation. Bolliger and Halupa (2018) explained that distance learners experience a higher rate of dropout, which may be caused by transactional distance. Bolliger and Halupa posited that distance learners' engagement can help minimize transactional distance and avert isolation, as well as dropout.

Rovai's (2003) composite model was used to explain attrition and persistence for nontraditional learners in distance learning programs. Rovai's composite model of persistence included age as one of the learner attributes related to persistence in distance learning. Rovai explained that a lack of sense of community corresponds to learners feeling isolated or less connected in their distance courses.

This study is important because persistence in distance learning has become problematic. Low levels of retention are ascribed to lower performance within postsecondary institutions. This can impact such institutions' capacity to obtain government-related funding (Haydarov et al., 2013). This study could provide insights that would help researchers, online educators, online course designers, and online program administrators to improve the quality of design practices and pedagogic practices in such programs and ameliorate persistence and graduation rates.

Persisting until completion of an advanced online degree program benefits learners and postsecondary institutions, as well as society. Advanced degree completion promotes positive social change. It enhances the employment prospects of individuals from diverse backgrounds. Moreover, individuals who complete their advanced online degree programs gain the requisite knowledge and skills needed to improve conditions within their communities.

Chapter 2 begins with an introduction of the aim of the quantitative study. The chapter presents the literature search strategies and theoretical and conceptual framework for the study. Issues that appertain to distance learning such as connectivity, persistence, retention, engagement, community, attrition, and isolation in distance education are also discussed.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. The aim of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether distance learners' perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. This review of the literature was informed by a discussion of Rotter's (1966) locus of control theory, Moore's (1997) theory of transactional distance, and Rovai's composite persistence model (2003), all of which provided a theoretical and conceptual framework for this study.

#### **Strategies for the Literature Search**

The electronic databases I used to conduct a search for literature included the following: Academic Search Complete, Education Source, PsycARTICLES, and PsycINFO. Reviewing the references pages of pertinent articles was also useful for finding additional resources. In addition, I used Google Scholar to search for relevant articles.

The literature search was limited to articles that were scholarly and from peerreviewed journals. Most of the research literature was limited to the last 5 years. Other articles were included that were older than 5 years; they provided important background information. Some earlier literature was also used to provide the theoretical framework for the study.

#### **Locus of Control**

Rotter derived the concept of locus of control from a theory of social learning he developed in 1954 (Rotter, 1966). In this theory, a reinforcement takes place after a certain behavior or occurrence, which builds an expectancy for that reinforcement to occur at a subsequent time (Rotter, 1966). Rotter conceptualized locus of control to explain how individuals develop expectancies, or expectations, in situations based on how the expectancies are reinforced. Some individuals feel that outcomes are contingent upon their own actions. Those individuals, according to Rotter, believe in control that is internal. Others may ascribe an outcome to forces outside of themselves; they believe that control is external. Rotter (1966) referred to such individuals, respectively, as internals or externals and developed a scale for measuring and assessing locus of control, external and internal.

#### **Academic Performance**

Individuals' perceptions of internal or external locus of control can impact academic performance. Lee and Choi (2011) explained that individuals with an internal locus of control perceive that their behavior is a determinant of outcomes in their lives. Learners with an internal locus of control that is high tend to have higher levels of selfregulation as well as self-motivation (Lee & Choi, 2011). In addition, findings from previous studies have indicated that learners with an internal locus of control tend to persevere and finish their online classes (Lee & Choi, 2011).

Gokcearslan et al. (2015) conducted a study to ascertain how locus of control influences certain aspects of individuals' behavior in distance learning. The authors

related that locus of control influences various facets of individuals' distance learning experience. Locus of control can affect how well they adjust to an online environment and perform in such an environment. The extent of how learners attend and participate in their online courses, as well as how they feel about such courses, is influenced by their locus of control. Moreover, the findings of multiple studies have indicated that locus of control exerts an influence on learners' capacity to finish their online education (Gokcearslan et al., 2015).

#### **Moore's Transactional Distance Theory**

Moore (1997) posited that learners and instructors in distance learning courses are geographically and temporally separated. He conceptualized this separation as transactional distance. Moore explained that transactional distance is an idea that is pedagogic. It characterizes how the interactions between instructors and learners in online environments can result in psychological gaps as well as possible misinterpretations. Moore asserted that transactional distance could occur in any learning environmenttraditional classrooms or online. However, it is important to note that learner dropout occurs at a higher rate in online courses compared to face-to face ones (Bolliger & Halupa, 2018). Transactional distance is consequential because it is regarded as a cause of learner dropout in online courses (Bolliger & Halupa, 2018).

Communication is influenced by varying aspects of the learning environment; consequently, transactional distance is also affected. For example, the number of learners the instructor is working with remotely, the physical setting where instruction takes place, how often it is possible to communicate, or the level of interactivity between learners and instructors are all considerations (Moore, 1997). Moore (1997) stated that computers have facilitated asynchronous interactions between learners and instructors with videoconferences and conferences via computer (such as text-based discussions). Synchronous or asynchronous group discussions have made it possible for students to learn from each other or learn with or independently of their instructors (Moore, 1997).

#### **Minimizing the Distance**

Bolliger and Halupa's 2018 study investigated how learners perceived transactional distance and engagement in their online classes. The authors related that technological advancements allow synchronous meetings to be included in online classes. This can minimize transactional distance. However, this is not analogous to settings where learners and instructors are physically at the same place at the same time. Distance learning has not yet reached that point (Bolliger & Halupa, 2018). For that reason, researchers have sought to find ways to minimize transactional distance in online settings. Myriad strategies can be utilized to improve communication, increase discourse, bring about lower transactional distance, and lessen learners' perceptions of isolation. Smith Jaggers and Xu (2016) stated that interactions between learners might lessen transactional distance and promote social presence in the course. Kassandrinou et al. (2014) explained that information and communication technology utilize cooperative tools, such as teleconferences. Kassandrinou et al. stated that teleconferences could foster online learning communities when integrated with face-to-face group meetings. This could help to lessen transactional distance. Nwankwo (2013) discussed findings from his study which indicated that an inverse relationship exists between instructors' level of

experience and a reduction in transactional distance. Similarly, Bollinger and Halupa's 2018 study presented findings which indicated an inverse relationship between learners' increased levels of engagement and a lessening of transactional distance. Such results have important implications for instructors and designers of distance learning courses.

#### **Other Perspectives**

Some researchers do not agree that transactional distance presents barriers in terms of distance learning. Paul et al. (2015) related that learners' access to the Internet has become unparalleled. As a result, Paul et al. asserted that distance is no longer a physical aspect of transactional distance that hinders interaction between instructors and learners. Some facets of transactional distance, however, are not physical. These types of distance may relate to perceptions or emotions which can impede knowledge acquisition in online courses. Such barriers could relate to the type of interactions between learners and faculty, the tone of such interactions, or how often learners interact during discussions (Paul et al., 2015). Paul et al. concluded that Moore's theory is pertinent to contemporary online settings, but it needs to be measured by a different model. The authors suggested that the scale developed by Zhang (2003), which measured barriers to transactional distance, be revised since it is a sound instrument (Paul et al., 2015). Kassandrinou et al. (2014) also contended that geographic separation should not be regarded as an obstacle in online courses since technologies used for information and communication such as computers, laptops, or software enable learners in online courses to communicate, interact, and collaborate. However, after Kassandrinou et al. conducted their 2014 study, they concluded that transactional distance was discerned as a barrier.

The study participants were geographically distant from each other and had little interaction.

#### **Rovai's Composite Model**

Rovai's (2003) composite persistence model was used to explain attrition and persistence for nontraditional learners in distance education programs. Several models were combined to create Rovai's composite persistence model. Rovai synthesized models of persistence from Tinto (1975, 1987, 1993) and Bean and Metzner (1985), and incorporated online learners' needed skills (Cole, 2000; Rowntree, 1995), Workman and Stenard's (1996) research on needs relevant to distance learners, and Grow's (1996) research on coordinating learning and instruction styles (Rovai, 2003). This resulted in a model that considers learners' skills before admission to an academic institution and factors, external as well as internal, that impact them afterwards (Rovai, 2003).

Attrition in distance learning programs is a complex matter and involves an interplay between factors affecting individuals as well as institutions (Waugh & Su, 2018). Waugh and Su (2018) stated that attrition may continue to be an issue in online education. However, Rovai's (2003) model offers guidance for institutions considering aspects of their programs that could adversely affect other important learner attributes (Waugh & Su, 2018).

Rovai (2003) stated that persistence refers to how long adults attend their courses. He explained that persistence is a major concern for programs at the postsecondary level. Nontraditional learners tend to be retained at lower rates compared to traditional ones, and their numbers have risen in online programs. In addition, the government has focused attention on retention rates. Low levels of retention are ascribed to lower performance within postsecondary institutions. This can impact such institutions' capacity to obtain government-related funding (Haydarov et al., 2013). Furthermore, lower retention rates in programs negatively affect efforts toward recruiting students and promoting programs (Willging & Johnson, 2004).

#### **Connectivity in Online Programs**

#### **Connectivity, Retention, and Persistence**

Persistence, in a distance education context, may result from the level of interactivity between learners and instructors (Croxton, 2014). Schroeder et al.'s 2016 study investigated graduate learners' experiences with connectivity in an asynchronous, online program. Schroeder et al. (2016) conceptualized connectivity as learners' perceptions of community as well as involvement within the online setting. Jamison and Bolliger (2020) asserted that learners' perception of community is essential to having a connection to distance courses. Having a perception of community enhances performance in distance education. Jamison and Bolliger (2020) explained that learners in distance education lack a physical presence, so making connections with instructors or other learners requires more effort.

Schroeder et al. (2016) related that retention has been problematic in online programs despite their continuous expansion. Some of the factors that contribute to unsatisfactory retention in online courses include learners not feeling connected to, or supported by, their academic institution, feeling isolated or disconnected, or having problems utilizing technology (Schroeder et al., 2016). Schroeder et al.'s 2016 study emphasized that learners' connectivity pertained to feeling connected and involved in the online setting. Instructor presence, which includes communicating often in ways that are relevant to learners (Reupert et al., 2009), helps to create such an environment. Schroeder et al. (2016) found that the learners wanted a higher level of connectivity with their instructors and advisors. However, most of the learners did not desire a high level of connectivity with other learners in their program. Connectedness in distance programs is enhanced by collaboration and can result in persistence (Laux et al., 2016). Laux et al. (2016) maintained that learners who feel connected with their groups tend to engage effectively and perceive a greater level of involvement with their program. Collaborative learning in online settings has been shaped by social constructivism, where learners enhance how they construct knowledge by interacting with others (Laux et al., 2016).

#### **Connectivity and Online Identity**

Delahunty et al. (2014) discussed how interaction, individuals' feelings of community, and the development of identity are facets of distance learning. Delahunty et al. stated that these features contribute to how individuals interact with others in online settings. They explained that individuals construct their identities as part of an online community, which has an effect on how they experience distance learning. Researchers have found that learners' participation strongly relates to interaction and perceptions of community. Ragusa and Crampton (2018) stated that learners' access to online education has grown widely, and the ways that connection and identity contribute to learners' success have gained relevance. Ragusa and Crampton conducted a mixed methods study to obtain data about undergraduates taking online courses at a university in Australia. The
authors wanted to better understand whether participants' perceptions of identity and connection in the courses influenced their experiences. Their findings indicated that almost 80% of the participants felt that connectedness contributed to their course performance.

### **Connectivity and Course Design**

Green et al. (2017) looked at previous studies with a focus on aspects of distance learning that bring about success. One aspect that was frequently pointed out was learners' need to interact and communicate in ways that help them to feel connected. Connectedness was an important aspect of a mixed methods study that Green et al. conducted with graduate students from cultures that were high or low context. Green et al. investigated the extent to which participants perceived being connected to other students, their instructors, and their program. They found that features relating to how programs and courses are designed resulted in feelings of connectedness. For example, varying the means of communication and the uniformity of such communication (Green et al., 2017). This finding is supported by research from Smith Jaggars and Xu (2016). Smith Jaggars and Xu noted that instructors who interacted frequently and effectively with learners in varying modes promoted learners' connection and performance in their courses. Green et al. stated that findings from previous studies have substantiated the idea that learners' connectedness relates to positive outcomes and persistence. Green et al. pointed out that the findings of their study were relevant to research pertaining to distance learners' persistence and achievement. Learners who persist in distance education are usually those who experience feelings of connectedness (Green et al., 2017).

### **Connectivity and Instructor Presence**

Online instructors strive to promote social presence, in that learners feel that others are present during online communications. Social presence diminishes perceptions of being isolated, disconnected, or separated (Phirangee & Malec, 2017). Joyner et al. (2014) explored how faculty presence in online graduate programs could facilitate learners' adjustment to such programs. Researchers have consistently noted that online learners tend to encounter feelings of isolation more often than those who attend classes on a campus (Joyner et al., 2014). Joyner et al. stated that connections between students and their instructors are central to retaining learners in traditional and online settings.

Jamison and Bolliger (2020) also discussed the importance of connectedness in online courses. Jamison and Bolliger stated that learners who perceive a connection to others in their distance courses feel less isolated and are likely to make academic progress and finish their programs. Perry and Steck (2019) also found that prompt and meaningful responses from instructors to online learners fosters persistence in addition to engagement. When learners can interact consistently with instructors, they experience lower levels of disconnectedness and more sense of community in a transactional learning setting (Perry & Steck, 2019). Perry and Steck explained that online instructors' use of synchronous interaction has become more common. For instance, instructors can hold virtual office hours by using online conferences or chat. Perry and Steck pointed out that online learners tend to use such communications less frequently. Email or communication that is text-based is more widely used, but it can require more time and involves delayed responses. Joyner et al. (2014) cited earlier studies which substantiated that connectivity between learners and instructors influenced learners' performance. Researchers have found that connectedness strongly corresponds to learners' academic progress in distance education (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020). Giving learners prompt feedback, taking part in activities, and promoting communication, helps online instructors to create an environment of connectedness among learners (Shepherd & Bolliger, 2019). Jamison and Bolliger (2020) asserted that connectedness is effective when learners and instructors interact in a relevant manner. In a distance course, learners may not be able to have synchronous discussions with their instructors or other learners (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020). Joyner et al. explained that instructor presence in graduate distance courses can be established by varying modes of interaction such as email, office hours, and lectures via video or audio. In addition, synchronously communicating with chat can help learners engage in the course with instructors and other learners (Joyner et al., 2014).

### **Retention and Persistence in Distance Education**

### **The Importance of Retention**

Muljana and Luo (2019) reviewed multiple studies pertaining to retention in distance education. Findings have indicated that enrollments in distance education have continually increased due to its popularity. However, the rate at which online learners complete their studies is far lower than those who are in traditional settings (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Institutions that offer online programs are negatively impacted by low retention because such programs could be viewed as ineffectual. Furthermore, being unable to persist in an online course may deter a learner from taking a subsequent one (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Berry (2018) discussed how enrollment has increased for learners in online graduate programs, but their experiences during their first year have not received much attention. Berry explained that the first year is extremely important to learners' positive outcomes as well as retention. Berry conducted a qualitative study to explore how an orientation taking place over three days influenced graduate learners' sense of community in their online program. Berry's findings indicated that learners' interactions during the orientation played a part in developing their sense of community. In addition, findings from previous studies have indicated that orientations in distance programs have been linked to higher levels of engagement as well as retention (Berry, 2018).

### **Persistence and Interaction**

Gaytan's 2015 study compared instructors' and learners' perception of factors that impact learner retention in distance courses. Gaytan's (2015) findings indicated that online instructors felt that the quality of the interactions between instructors and learners was a factor impacting learners' retention. Researchers in previous studies have reported similar findings. The learners felt that relevant feedback was more important. For example, they usually only received a grade for coursework, but wanted more feedback about how they could improve their performance (Gaytan, 2015). Instructions and learners also differed in their ratings of the quality of instructor- learner interactions. The online instructors equated high-level interactions with prompt feedback provided a few times weekly. The learners, however, felt that high-level interactions were those that included suggestions for improving their performance and enriching their skills (Gaytan, 2015).

Milman et al. (2015) related that the widespread presence of distance programs has necessitated a better understanding of the factors, internal as well as external, that ameliorate online learners' persistence. However, the characteristics of learners in graduate distance programs differ greatly from undergraduates in face-to-face-settings (Haydarov et al., 2013). Milman et al. examined how administrative and faculty support of learners in an online master's degree program could promote satisfaction and persistence. Milman et al. found that connecting, as well as interacting, with instructors, advisors, and other learners were some supports that were deemed as key by the highest number of participants Milman et al. surveyed.

Some researchers have contended that being physically separated can result in learners feeling isolated and alienated in online programs (Rovai & Wighting, 2005). Rovai and Wighting (2005) examined perceptions of alienation and low perceptions of community to explain low persistence rates in online programs. More than 115 learners in several online graduate courses completed a self-report. The findings of their study indicated that alienation and perceptions of community were inversely related.

### **Persistence and Social Presence**

Richardson et al. (2015) described social presence as the extent to which learners perceive a connection to other learners in a virtual community. Social presence, Kear et al., (2014) maintained, is central to distance learning. Kear et al. stated that many learners require a feeling of being connected with others to discuss ideas and collaborate. When there is insufficient social presence, disengagement can result. Learners may leave the online setting (Kear et al., 2014). Lee and Huang (2018) also affirmed the value of social presence to online learners. Lee and Huang stated that online learners may experience feelings of isolation when there is not enough social interaction.

Retention, motivation, perceptions of learning, and participation in online courses are influenced by social presence (Richardson et al., 2017). Richardson et al. (2017) conducted a meta-analysis of factors from other studies to look at how social presence and learner outcomes relate to each other in varying contexts, disciplines, and ways of measuring social presence. Richardson et al. discussed how instructors could utilize teaching strategies to promote social presence in their online courses. Trespalacios and Lowenthal (2019) stated that building and sustaining social presence in online courses could help learners feel less isolated, which could also help them to persist. Moreover, social presence plays a part in effective collaboration as well as satisfaction with distance courses (Oregon et al., 2018).

### **Persistence and Community**

Earlier studies have consistently validated the finding that sense of community relates to learner satisfaction in distance education. Building a sense of community in distance courses can also reduce attrition (Trespalacios & Lowenthal, 2019). Other study findings also revealed that sense of community relates to perceptions of learning (Trespalacios & Lowenthal, 2019). This means that distance learners feel that a robust sense of community enhances learning outcomes. (Trespalacios & Lowenthal, 2019). A lower sense of community, however, is one of the major contributors to online learners' lack of satisfaction in a distance setting (Oregon et al., 2018). Oregon et al. (2018) explained that being separated physically can lessen the sense of community and add to perceptions of being disconnected and isolated.

Many studies have indicated that social presence is an important aspect of distance learning. However, it is important to consider that sense of community may not always be perceived that way by learners or instructors in online courses. Trespalacios and Lowenthal (2019) related that sense of community is, at times, regarded as being something that every student wants or requires in distance courses. However, Trespalacios and Lowenthal proposed that a sense of community, for some online learners, as well as instructors, is not as relevant. Trespalacios and Lowenthal explained that findings from previous studies have indicated that learners' personality traits or their style of learning may influence how they regard interaction in distance courses. Trespalacios and Lowenthal also suggested that some learners or instructors may have difficulties participating in activities that develop community. Trespalacios and Lowenthal cited Su et al.'s 2005 study of learners in an online graduate program. The results of Su et al.'s 2005 study indicated that instructors felt that interactions between learners and instructors are an essential part of high-quality distance programs. In addition, Su et al. (2005) stated that distance students felt that interaction was useful for learning, but they differed on the amount of interaction needed in distance courses. Su et al. stated that learners' differing perceptions appeared to relate to how their personalities or styles of learning varied.

# **Persistence and Instructor Presence**

Glazier (2016) posited that the design of online courses is not conducive to developing rapport between instructors and learners. In some instances, learners feel disconnected and drop the course, which lowers its retention rate. Glazier proposed that enhancing rapport between instructors and learners is one way of improving retention in distance learning. During a six-year period, Glazier utilized a variety of instructional strategies to build rapport in some of her online classes. She established instructor presence by sending emails throughout the term, making videos with updates of weekly course content, giving electronic feedback on assignments, and posting on the discussion boards each week (Glazier, 2016). Glazier's findings showed that courses taught with strategies to build rapport experienced far less attrition and greatly improved grades (Glazier, 2016). Shin (2003) stated that persistence in online courses is also predicted by learners' perceptions of transactional presence. Transactional presence relates to online learners' perceptions of the accessibility of, and connectedness with, individuals in their online environment. Shin explained that instructors, peers, and the support staff at academic institutions are important individuals for online learners. Transactional presence was also the focus of Naylor and Wilson's 2009 study. The authors investigated how graduate learners perceived transactional presence with instructors and other learners. Naylor and Wilson (2009) stated that distance courses are characterized by less dialogue and more structure. The authors suggested that the effects of transactional distance can be lessened if instructors interact often and regularly, and courses are developed to be less structured. Naylor and Wilson's findings confirmed that

transactional presence entails more than interacting often. Learners' satisfaction with the quality of the interactions is an important consideration.

# **Engagement in Distance Education**

# **Benefits of Engagement**

Learners mainly interact with the content of their course, other learners in the course, and the instructor of the course (Bolliger & Halupa, 2017). Engagement is beneficial to learners in distance courses. A learner's level of engagement corresponds positively to his or her outcomes (Bolliger & Halupa, 2018). Bolliger and Halupa's 2018 study investigated how distance learners perceived transactional distance, engagement, and learning outcomes. Their analyses demonstrated an inverse relationship between transactional distance and learners' engagement. When learners perceived a lower level of transactional distance, their level of engagement increased (Bolliger & Halupa, 2018). Martin and Bolliger (2018) discussed ways of engaging learners in distance courses. Participating in engagement-related strategies such as collaborating in groups, facilitating discussions, and facilitating presentations are activities that involve active learning (Martin & Bolliger, 2018). Martin and Bolliger examined how learners perceived varying engagement methods utilized in their online classes. Moore's (1993) model for interaction in distance education provided the framework for Martin and Bolliger's study. Their findings indicated that incorporating interactive aspects in online courses enriches engagement. Martin and Bolliger also emphasized that instructors, as facilitators, require strategies for managing time and improving interaction in distance courses.

Perry and Steck (2019) surveyed two groups of instructors who taught online courses. One group was from 2002 and the second group was from 2016. They compared how each group perceived distance instruction. Findings from Perry and Steck reinforced the idea that providing good instruction, and fostering learners' engagement as well as active learning, should continue to be a prime concern. Online courses are delivered by advanced technology, but faculty are responsible for instructional standards and course management (Perry & Steck, 2019). Perry and Steck noted that their study should be repeated, but participants should include faculty as well as students.

#### **Engagement and Interaction**

In earlier online courses, content was mainly presented in a text format (Daily-Hebert, 2018). However, the design of online courses has been informed by research and technological advancements which make it possible for learners to connect in myriad ways. Online learning can approximate the learning experience provided in face-to-face settings (Dailey-Hebert, 2018). Daily-Herbert (2018) stated that interaction in online courses may be synchronous; it takes place in actual real time. Learners can have real-time chats or participate in video conferences or webinars. Synchronous interactions also allow learners to collaborate, receive instructor feedback without delays, talk to instructors during their office hours, and participate in realities that are virtual or augmented. Realities that are virtual or augmented are created by computer; they allow learners to engage in settings analogous to those that are physical and three-dimensional (Daily-Hebert, 2018). Conversely, communication which occurs asynchronously does not

take place in real time. E-mail, pre-recorded lectures, and discussion boards are used to interact asynchronously.

Moore (1989) advanced a model of interaction for online learning. The three types of interactions he proposed were learner to learner, learner to instructor, and learner to content. Subsequent models from other researchers included other forms of interaction such as instructor to content, instructor to instructor, as well as content to content (Kuo et al., 2013). However, Daily-Hebert (2018) stated that communication, or interactivity, in online settings, usually takes place in three modes. It can take place between learners, between learners and the instructor, or between learners and content (Daily-Hebert, 2018). Interactivity is an integral aspect of online learning. Previous research findings have indicated that interactivity, especially interactivity between learner and instructor, can contribute greatly to learner satisfaction (Dailey-Hebert, 2018). Insufficient interaction, however, is problematic.

Cole et al. (2014) conducted a study of undergraduate and graduate learners at a university that took place over three years. They surveyed participants with a five-point Likert scale to measure their satisfaction with distance learning and asked open-ended questions about factors that influenced their satisfaction or lack of satisfaction with their online courses. Cole et al. found that insufficient interaction with other learners and the instructor was a primary cause of dissatisfaction. Kuo et al. (2013) investigated whether certain variables such as interaction and self-regulation predict learner satisfaction in online environments. The students who participated were enrolled in undergraduate and graduate-level courses. Kuo et al.'s analyses focused on interaction between learners, interaction between learners and the instructor, and interaction between learners and content. Their findings suggested that learner to instructor interaction and learner to content interaction strongly predicted learner satisfaction. Kuo et al. stated that researchers have viewed interaction as one of the primary facets of remote education because of the isolation that learners and instructors experience. In addition, Kuo et al. related that findings from previous studies have suggested that interaction has a positive effect on learners' satisfaction with distance learning.

Rogerson-Revell (2015) conducted a study of an online master's degree program for teachers. The participants completed modules which involved asynchronous activities. Varying technologies were utilized to bring about collaborative learning as well as formative evaluations. Learners interacted via discussion boards that included voice recordings (audio) as well as text-based posts, blogs, and podcasts. Rogerson-Revell cited findings from a study by Kirkwood et al. (2008) which indicated that it is more effective to integrate technology as courses are being designed. The findings of Rogerson-Revell's study indicated that discussions which utilized voice recordings could lead to more collaborative learning and promote learners' engagement with course material.

Jackson (2019) reviewed literature pertaining to how instructors can enrich perceptions of connectivity and interaction in distance learning. The literature review included Garrison et al.'s (1999) Community of Inquiry (COI) model. In this model, learning results from interactions occurring between teaching, social, and cognitive presence (Jackson, 2019). Orcutt and Dringus (2017) explained that Garrison et al.'s (1999) Community of Inquiry (CoI) model presented a framework which advanced that teaching presence affects social as well as cognitive processes in online settings. Previous studies relating to teaching presence have enhanced understanding of the collaborative aspects of the online setting and have offered insight into ways that learners and instructors share responsibility for the acquisition of knowledge and skills (Orcutt & Dringus, 2017).

Jackson (2019) related that the research findings suggested that instructor-learner interactions, especially those relating to learners' questions, have not received as much attention. Instructors can enhance social presence by replying to learners' questions about course content, assignments, or other concerns. (Jackson, 2019). Jackson cited research by Orcutt and Dringus (2017) which indicated that instructors in distance education can use discussions and instructors' replies to learners' questions to influence learning and engagement as well as intellectual curiosity. The Community of Inquiry model describes teaching presence as a concept that lessens the transactional distance occurring between learners and instructors by interaction (Orcutt & Dringus, 2017).

Greater insistence on attainment of retention and learning outcomes has persisted in postsecondary education. Consequently, instructors have directed more focus toward ameliorating approaches to teaching that can result in learner outcomes in an online setting (Orcutt & Dringus, 2017). Evolving technology in online settings has facilitated learner-instructor interactions which involve collaborative learning (Orcutt & Dringus, 2017). However, advancements in distance education have not always been easy for instructors to follow. Some instructors may be over-reliant on technology to connect with learners or return to strategies more appropriate for actual classrooms (Orcutt & Dringus, 2017). Orcutt and Dringus' (2017) qualitative study examined how educators viewed teaching presence in online courses and the reasoning underlying the teaching strategies they chose to create it. Their findings indicated that the educators created teaching presence by interacting with learners in ways that influenced their engagement as well as their intellectual curiosity.

### **Research on Interaction in Distance Education**

### **Interaction in Distance Education**

According to Xiao (2017), interaction is a recurring concept in literature pertaining to distance learning. Xiao pointed out that that many studies have focused on shared or interchangeable interaction: learner to learner or learner to instructor. However, fewer studies have examined the interaction between learner and content. Xiao posited that this type of interaction is integral to assuring the efficacity of distance learning. During the earlier times of distance learning, learners were separated physically from other learners, their instructor, and institution. The interaction usually occurred between the learner and the educational materials and was not reciprocal, which was viewed as a limitation of distance learning. Xiao cited earlier researchers who supported the importance of interaction between learner and content that occurs in distance learning. Interaction is an essential feature for such settings. An insufficient level of interaction, or a lack of interaction, can lead to feelings of isolation and reduce the quality of learning being experienced. Rhode (2009) stated that higher education distance learning programs seek to promote varying interactions where learners feel engaged and interact meaningfully with other learners, their instructor, and the content in the course.

Another type of interaction in distance learning, learner to instructor, is analogous to learner to content interaction. This type of interaction is incorporated into educational materials to lessen the difference between face-to-face, on-campus learning and distance learning. The interaction occurring between learner and content underlies the other types of interactions (Xiao, 2017). Xiao (2017) stated that understanding the strategies learners utilize when studying online, printed, audio, interactive, graphic, or video course materials can help to attain learning objectives.

# **Learners' Interaction Preferences**

Xiao (2017) explained that learners might prefer some types of interaction more than other types. Rhode (2009) conducted a mixed-methods study to ascertain what mode of interaction was considered most valuable by learners in an online setting that was selfpaced. The learners interacted with rich text and used asynchronous tools to communicate such as discussions boards and blogs. Rhode stated that the learners had a higher degree of interaction with the course content or the instructor on levels that were formal as well as informal. Padilla Rodriguez and Armellini (2013) had similar findings from their study. Padilla Rodriguez and Armellini conducted a study at a large organization that offered a virtual university. Padilla Rodriguez and Armellini wanted to assess how learners perceived three modes of interactions, learner to instructor, learner to content, and learner to learner and their viewpoints on the effectiveness of the online courses for training. Padilla Rodriguez and Armellini's findings indicated that learner to content interactions were regarded as the most valuable compared to learner to learner and learner to instructor interactions.

# **Community in Distance Education**

# **Community and Interaction**

As of 2016, more than three million learners were taking online courses to complete their degree; in 2020, that number is estimated to rise to five million learners (Clinefelter & Aslanian, 2016). Growth in enrollment has changed distance education. Interactivity is increasingly required between other learners and instructors; thus, approaches to enhance interactivity and perceptions of community in distance programs have been sought (Clinefelter & Aslanian, 2016). Banna et al. (2015) examined how interaction could be promoted in an online course. Banna et al. stated that learner engagement is built via interaction. When learners work together, they actively construct knowledge. The instructor, by interacting with learners, builds social presence, a requisite aspect of effective distance courses (Banna et al., 2015). Synchronous monthly discussions with learners and the instructor, polls, and social media were utilized in the course. The learners who participated in the synchronous discussions returned qualitative feedback about the new interactive facets of the course. Banna et al. found that the learners deemed the synchronous interactions beneficial.

Trespalacios and Uribe-Florez (2020) examined how learners in an online doctoral course perceived sense of community and learning in their course. The participants interacted and collaborated within their course by posting an introductory video, recording posts to other learners, having asynchronous group discussions, and used video to interact synchronously with the instructor. Trespalacios and Uribe-Florez used two surveys to collect quantitative data. They conducted interviews that were semistructured and synchronous to collect qualitative data. The findings of their study suggested that using a variety of activities to interact while providing scaffolding can support learning and promote sense of community for online graduate learners.

An earlier study by Beson (2019) examined sense of community in graduate online programs. Beson explained that sense of community is a concept that has been widely examined in distance education. Some facets of sense of community include consistently interacting with members of the group and perceiving connectedness. A vigorous sense of community corresponds positively to learners feeling engaged and satisfied, as well as perceptions of belongingness (Beson, 2019). Beson stated that the results of his study correspond to earlier research on sense of community. Beson found that learners who interact at higher levels with other learners and instructors are inclined to report greater levels of sense of community. However, Beson pointed out that some of his findings do not correspond to previous studies. For example, findings from prior studies have indicated that females are inclined to report greater levels of sense of community compared to males (Beson, 2019).

### **Community and Online Technologies**

In their 2019 study, Swartzwelder et al. investigated whether discussions that were video based would enhance learners' level of interactivity and engagement in an online graduate nursing program. Swartzwelder et al. (2019) pointed out that instructors need to ascertain which strategies enhance how learners engage with online course content and interact with other learners. They also discussed how social learning could be useful when incorporating new technologies in distance classes. Feedback from surveys revealed that learners preferred the discussions that were text-based (Swartzwelder et al., 2019). For example, some learners were not comfortable making videos, or the feedback for the text-based discussions was more positive and promoted more learner interaction and engagement.

McClannon et al. (2018) explored factors that were used to predict how learners perceived community and presence in the virtual immersive setting. Cheney and Terry (2018) explained that an immersive setting is one that uses technology that allows "sensory immersion" (p. 281). McClannon et al. surveyed graduate learners who were using immersive distance learning settings for the work in their course. Factors relating to the course structure and learner engagement were used in the study. Learners used integrated audio and shared web documents, video, and images on display panels to interact and collaborate synchronously (McClannon et al., 2018). McClannon et al. explained that sense of community in distance communities varies greatly from those that are face-to-face. Their findings indicated that the learners' sense of community was increased by factors relating to how the course was structured, how much time learners spent in the immersive setting weekly, and how long they were in the program (McClannon et al., 2018). The findings also indicated that the learners' sense of presence increased (McClannon et al., 2018).

McClannon et al. (2018) emphasized the importance of understanding facets of online settings that bring about favorable outcomes. In addition, McClannon et al.

suggested that additional studies are needed to ensure the consistency of their findings. Gardner and Elliott (2014) related how an immersive setting was used to give learners a virtual classroom in a mixed reality setting. The instructor was in an actual class giving a lecture. Technology such as display screens in the classroom, audio, and live video streaming, allowed local and distant learners to interact with each other as well as the instructor. Gardner and Elliott stated that these interactions promoted learners' sense of community and provided practice for teaching.

### Attrition, Isolation, and Disconnectedness in Distance Education

### **Attrition and Lack of Interaction**

Persistence and degree completion are highly significant to learners and to academic institutions' viability. Degree completion evinces that an academic institution is realizing its mission to instruct and graduate students (Shaw et al., 2016). Shaw et al. (2016) examined factors that predict attrition in distance education. Shaw et al. suggested that subsequent studies compare findings from distance learning and face-to-face groups to see if comparable factors increase the chances of learners withdrawing from programs or withdrawing prior to finishing their first class. A lack of interactivity may contribute to attrition in online settings (Croxton, 2014). Findings from previous studies indicate that lower levels of interactivity may result in online learners becoming less satisfied, feeling more isolated, and being more likely to leave the online setting (Croxton, 2014).

Graduate programs have continued to experience high levels of attrition (Des Armier & Bolliger, 2019). When learners lack a feeling of connectedness, it could lead to feelings of isolation. Such feelings can have a deleterious effect on learners' program completion (Des Armier & Bolliger, 2019). Phirangee (2016) conducted a qualitative study of learners in an online graduate program to explore the types of interactions that could diminish sense of community and bring about attrition. For her study, Phirangee defined community as involving a perception of belonging as well as interactivity for learners in an online class. Phirangee cited findings from previous studies which suggested that feeling isolated and disconnected resulted in learner attrition. Phirangee cited numerous scholars who contended that interaction is intrinsic to establishing community throughout an online class. Learners are inclined to interact to a greater extent, which could reduce perceptions of being isolated and disconnected (Phirangee, 2016).

Phirangee (2016) found that certain types of learner-to-learner interactions could lead to attrition. For example, learners failing to give other learners credit for ideas introduced in discussions or learners discussing points unrelated to the main topic. Phirangee suggested that understanding the type of interactions that result in learners feeling isolated could help instructors change their teaching strategies to sustain a vigorous sense of community among learners.

### **Isolation and Disconnectedness in Online Courses**

Isolation is a feature of online courses in that physical isolation occurs, and perceptions of isolation can result in learner attrition (Glazier, 2016). Reupert et al., (2009) observed that isolation can also result in an online learner not feeling engaged with his or her instructor, other learners, or the academic institution. Online learners' rate of dropping out is higher than those in face-to-face settings. Delahunty et al. (2014) noted that perceptions of being disconnected is a concern for learners in distance education. Interactions between learners are beneficial and bring about engagement. To avert possible isolation, it is very important to develop course activities that promote learners' engagement (Martin & Bolliger, 2018).

# **Diminishing Perceptions of Isolation**

Isolation can affect learners in distance courses. However, its effects can be minimized through constructive interactions with the course instructor. Such interactions can influence learners' success in distance courses (Glazier, 2016). Martin et al. (2018) stated that findings of prior studies have shown that learners' engagement results in higher satisfaction. This can improve learners' drive to learn and lessens perceptions of isolation. Martin et al. investigated how online learners perceived varying facilitation modes that instructors used to build presence, learning, and engagement. When instructors interact with learners and promote their active participation, they also function as facilitators in the online course (Martin et al., 2018). Martin et al. noted that instructor presence is key to effective asynchronous courses. Researchers have found that instructor presence corresponds to learners' achievement or satisfaction in distance education. In addition, instructor presence minimizes learners' perceptions of isolation, which can improve retention in the course (Martin et al., 2018).

This literature review consists of literature search strategies and the theoretical framework for the study. Issues that appertain to distance learning such as connectivity, persistence, retention, engagement, community, attrition, and isolation in distance education are also discussed. In the following chapter, Research Method, I identify the

research design, research problem, research questions, population and sample for the study, sampling method, criteria for participant inclusion or exclusion, instrument for collecting data, software to analyze the data, and the statistical methods used to analyze the data.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

### Introduction

This chapter presents the purpose of the study, the research design and its rationale, the means of data collection, variables that were measured, the instrumentation, data analysis, and research questions and hypotheses. I also describe the population that was sampled, how participants were recruited, and the power analysis used to determine the sample size. Other areas include ethical considerations, such as Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, participant protection, how data will be protected, and study limitations.

# **Study Purpose**

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. The predictor variables that were measured in the study were perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age. The criterion variable that was measured was persistence. The predictor variables, as well as the criterion variable, were measured as continuous variables (Segrin, 2012).

### **Research Design and Rationale**

This study was quantitative with a nonexperimental design; I used a survey as a means of data collection. In a nonexperimental design, the relationships between already-existing groups are examined and random assignment of participants is not part of the design (Lobmeier, 2012). In addition, a nonexperimental design does not involve

manipulation of the independent variable. It is not concluded that a relationship that is causal exists between the variables that are being measured (Lobmeier, 2012).

The independent variables that were measured were perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age. Persistence was the dependent variable measured in the study. The aim of research questions in quantitative studies is to determine if there is a relationship among the variables (Creswell, 2014). Creswell explained that independent variables may produce outcomes or influence outcomes.

Multiple linear regression was used to examine how strongly the continuous predictor variables, perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age, predict the value of the continuous criterion variable, persistence. When multiple linear regression is used to analyze data, the independent variables are also referred to as predictor variables (Segrin, 2012). Dependent variables, according to Creswell (2014), are influenced by independent variables. The dependent variable in multiple linear regression is also known as the criterion variable (Segrin, 2012).

### Instrumentation

A survey comprised of three instruments was used to collect data: Bollinger and Inan's (2012) Online Student Connectedness Survey (OSCS), Duttweiler's (1984) Internal Control Index, and Duckworth et al.'s (2007) Grit Scale. Bollinger and Inan's OSCS were used to measure learners' perceptions of connectedness within their online master's degree programs. Bolliger and Inan explained that the OSCS is comprised of 25 items using a 5-point Likert scale. The five responses to statements range from 1(strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The OSCS includes four subscales (community, comfort, facilitation, and interaction and collaboration).

Bolliger and Inan (2012) conducted a study using the OSCS in programs offered at two universities. One university was in the western part of the United States and the other university was in Turkey. In the United States, three programs were delivered online; in Turkey, one program was delivered online. Bolliger and Inan stated that the findings from the study in the United States indicated that the coefficient for internal reliability was ( $\alpha$ =0.98). The findings from the study in Turkey also indicated that the internal reliability was ( $\alpha$ =0.97), and the coefficients for internal reliability for each of the subscales in the instrument were high: Comfort was ( $\alpha$ =0.97), community was ( $\alpha$  = 0.96), facilitation was ( $\alpha$  = 0.94), and interaction and collaboration were ( $\alpha$  = 0.97). Various experts at three universities located in the United States evaluated the survey items to affirm the survey's construct validity (Bolliger & Inan, 2012). According to Bolliger and Inan, the survey items were analyzed to see if they represented the construct being measured and whether the items were expressed clearly.

In addition, Jamison and Bolliger (2020) used the OSCS in a study with two midwestern online graduate programs. Jamison and Bolliger stated that the instrument's coefficient for internal reliability was high ( $\alpha = 0.94$ ), and the reliability for each subscale was also high: comfort was ( $\alpha=0.86$ ), community was ( $\alpha = 0.89$ ), facilitation was ( $\alpha =$ 0.81), and interaction and collaboration were ( $\alpha = 0.88$ ). With the author's permission, I modified the verb tenses in the OSCS to reflect past tense instead of the present tense that Bolliger and Inan (2012) used. Duttweiler's (1984) Internal Control Index measures learners' internal locus of control. Duttweiler's Internal Control Index is comprised of 28 items to measure individuals' attitudes or beliefs regarding possible outcomes or reinforcements (Duttweiler, 1984). Duttweiler administered the Internal Control Index at a 2-year college in Georgia. Analyses indicated that the reliability for the internal control index was approximately .84 (Duttweiler, 1984). The participants responded to each statement by filling in a blank with a letter that corresponded to their typical attitude or feelings in average situations. The participants selected a response from five options ranging from Rarely (Less than 10% of the time) to Usually (More than 90% of the time) (Duttweiler, 1984). In addition, Duttweiler explained how to score each item and the maximum or minimum total to indicate participants' internal locus of control. To confirm the instrument's convergent validity, Duttweiler analyzed data from a field test (n = 684) and replicated the study with 133 students from a 2-year college.

Grit, a trait that is noncognitive, is described as perseverance as well as passion toward goals over an extended period of time (Duckworth et al., 2007). In online settings, drop out often occurs when learners face difficulties (Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015). The Grit Scale emphasizes maintaining effort, as well as interest, toward attaining goals over an extended period of time. The instrument consists of 12 items with two factors. One factor showed "consistency of interests" (Duckworth et al., 2007, p. 1090), and the other factor showed "perseverance of effort" (Duckworth et al., 2007, p. 1090). Duckworth et al. (2007) explained that the items are based on a 5-point scale ranging from responses to statements such as 1(not at all like me) to responses such as 5 (very much like me).

Overall, the Grit Scale was internally consistent at a high level ( $\alpha = .85$ ). Both factors were also internally consistent at a high level ( $\alpha = .84$ ;  $\alpha = .78$ ). Duckworth et al. (2007) used the Grit Scale in several studies. One study included a sample of more than 1,500 participants (N=1,545) and a subsequent study included more than 600 participants (N=690). The participants' average age was 45 (M=45). The findings from both samples indicated that Grit was related to the level of attained education. Duckworth et al. also used the Grit Scale in a study at West Point to predict retention for two classes of cadets (N=1, 218; N=1, 308) in a summer program; the coefficient for internal reliability was ( $\alpha = .79$ ).

### Methodology

#### **Data Analysis**

I used multiple linear regression to analyze the relationship between the predictor variables, perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age and the criterion variable, persistence. Multiple linear regression is used to analyze the relationship between independent variables (two variables or more) and one dependent variable (Segrin, 2012). This analysis can be used to predict a certain variable's values according to what is known about its relationship with the other variables' specified values. Multiple linear regression is also used for hypothesis testing relating to what degree particular variables explain change in a dependent variable (Segrin, 2012). In

addition, this method of analysis can be employed to test relationships among variables that are continuous or categorical (Segrin, 2012).

I collected demographic information from four questions. The participants selected their highest level of completed education (bachelor's degree or master's degree), indicated whether online courses were their preferred instructional format, stated their age, and indicated their gender (male or female). Gender was not included in the multiple linear regression analysis. I performed an Independent Samples *t*-Test to see if the means varied for the continuous predictor variables, connectivity, internal locus of control, and age, between the two completed education levels.

I used SPSS (Version 28) to perform the multiple linear regression analyses and an Independent Samples *t*-Test. Multiple linear regression analyses were used to address research questions one to three. An Independent Samples *t*-Test was utilized to address research question four. I used the results from the data to create histograms, tables, and scatter plots.

### **Multiple Linear Regression Assumptions**

The researcher needs to take the assumptions regarding multiple linear regression into consideration. Researchers use multiple linear regression to analyze data when meeting assumptions pertinent to the data (Segrin, 2012). First, multiple linear regression requires that the independent variables and dependent variable relate to each other linearly (Segrin, 2012). Homoscedasticity, another assumption, states that for every independent variable's potential value, the residuals' variance predicting *Y* need to be uniform (Segrin, 2012). Next, multivariate normality is an assumption that residuals have a normal distribution (Abbott, 2016). Finally, multicollinearity should not affect the data. Warner (2013) explained that multicollinearity means that predictor variables correlate highly with each other. Consequently, it could be difficult to determine how the predictor variables contribute and the regression coefficients' standard errors could become larger (Warner, 2013).

# **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: To what extent will perceived connectivity predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_0$ 1: Perceived connectivity will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{A1}$ : Perceived connectivity will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ2: To what extent will perceived internal locus of control predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_02$ : Perceived internal locus of control will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A2$ : Perceived internal locus of control will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ3: To what extent will age predict persistence in online master's degree

programs?

 $H_03$ : Age will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{A3}$ : Age will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ4: To what extent will the means vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program?

 $H_0$ 4: The means will not vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

 $H_A$ 4: The means will vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

# **Sampling Procedures**

# **Study Population**

The study examined persistence in online master's degree programs and used a convenience sample. The inclusion criteria specified that participants were individuals who had completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years. A 5-year limitation for inclusion would facilitate participants' recall of their perceptions of connectedness and internal locus of control within their online master's degree program.

A convenience sample is a type of non-probability sampling. Etikan et al. (2016) stated that convenience sampling does not give each of the individuals who are part of the target population an equal chance of participation. Bigsby (2018) stated that nonprobability sampling is less generalizable than probability sampling. Researchers who conduct non-probability sampling do not know if the sample selected represents the population that is under study (Bigsby, 2018). Nonprobability sampling is used for myriad reasons. In some circumstances, there is not enough information regarding the population to perform probability sampling or the subjects needed for the sample are not easily accessible (Hussey, 2012). Hussey (2012) further explained that researchers may face difficulties pertaining to funding and resources that are needed to conduct research involving a substantial sample size.

# **Study Recruitment**

The study was posted on Walden University's Participant Pool, and a study flyer was posted on the Facebook and LinkedIn websites. Minors were not recruited as participants for the study. To ensure that the study only included adult participants, the inclusion criteria specified that any individuals who wanted to participate in the study must be 18 years of age or older. The study flyer stated the purpose of the study and the criteria for inclusion. The study flyer also stated that participation was voluntary, participants would not provide their names, and participants would not receive any compensation.

When the individuals read the consent form, they were able to access a link to Survey Monkey. Individuals who indicated that they wanted to participate were forwarded to the survey. The individuals who indicated that they did not want to participate were exited from Survey Monkey. The data collected from the survey will be stored securely in a password-protected file for 5 years.

### **Power Analysis**

I determined the sample size I used for the study by downloading G\* Power software (Faul et al., 2009). I chose F-Tests for the test family, selected Linear Multiple Regression, R<sup>2</sup> Deviation from Zero for the statistical test, and selected a prori power analysis. I selected a medium effect size, which Cohen (1988) stated is  $f^2 = .15$ . (as cited in Faul et al. 2009). I selected the alpha level,  $\alpha = .05$ , the  $\alpha$  err prob was .05, and for power (1-  $\beta$  err prob), I entered .80. This resulted in a total sample size of 77 participants.

According to Cohen (1992), power analysis involves four interrelated components: the criterion for significance ( $\alpha$ ), sample size (N), population effect size (ES), and statistical power to make statistical inference. The statistical power involved in significance testing allows researchers to reject the null hypothesis (H<sub>0</sub>) when taking the  $\alpha$ , N, and ES into consideration (Cohen, 1992). When the ES does not equal zero, failing to reject the H<sub>0</sub> results in a type II error. With any specified  $\alpha$ , N, and ES, the chances of this type of error taking place is  $\beta$ , and power is 1-  $\beta$ , which is the chance of rejecting a H<sub>0</sub> that is false (Cohen, 1992). Cohen explained that in such a context, the required power is .80 and  $\beta$  =.20, which is a practice suggested for customary usage. In addition, a value that is considerably smaller than .80 could bring about a Type II error, while a value that is substantially larger would produce a requirement for N which goes beyond the researcher's resources (Cohen, 1992).

### **Ethical Considerations**

I began the study after I received approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Minors were not recruited as participants for the study. To ensure that the study only included adult participants, the inclusion criteria specified that any individuals who wanted to participate in the study must be 18 years of age or older. Individuals read the consent form and proceeded to Survey Monkey to take the survey. The data was transferred to a file in SPSS (Version 28) and will be stored securely in a password-protected file for five years.

#### **Study Limitations**

Nonprobability sampling is less generalizable than probability sampling. Representative samples generalize to a target population to a greater degree. Consequently, the findings from a study would be more pertinent to the target population (Bigsby, 2018). In addition, using nonprobability sampling can make it difficult to determine sampling error and find to what extent the sample is similar to, or differs from, the target population (Bigsby, 2018). Losh (2012) explained that sampling error indicates the extent to which the sample varies from other samples and plays an important part in describing the results of the research.

Chapter four describes the participant recruitment and data collection process. The findings derived from the descriptive statistics, multiple linear regression analysis, and Independent Samples *t*-Test are discussed in this chapter. A discussion of how the assumptions for multiple linear regression were satisfied is included as well. Histograms, tables, and scatterplots also provide an illustration of the demographic information and various data outputs.

# Chapter 4: Results

# Introduction

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. Findings from recent studies have shown that 29% of learners in the United States enrolled solely in distance learning courses (Ginder et al., 2018). However, findings from a number of studies have indicated that rates of persistence for courses delivered online continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-to-face (Muljana & Luo, 2019). The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. The study sample (N = 68) consisted of individuals who have completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years.

The following research questions and hypotheses were addressed in the study:

RQ1: To what extent will perceived connectivity predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_01$ : Perceived connectivity will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{A1}$ : Perceived connectivity will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ2: To what extent will perceived internal locus of control predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_02$ : Perceived internal locus of control will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A2$ : Perceived internal locus of control will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ3: To what extent will age predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_03$ : Age will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_{\rm A}$ 3: Age will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ4: To what extent will the means vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program?

 $H_04$ : The means will not vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

 $H_A4$ : The means will vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

This chapter describes the participant recruitment and data collection process. The findings derived from the descriptive statistics, multiple linear regression analysis and an Independent Samples *t*-test are discussed in this chapter. A discussion of how the assumptions for multiple linear regression were satisfied is included as well. Histograms,
tables, and scatter plots also provide an illustration of the demographic information and various data outputs.

## **Data Collection**

After Walden University's IRB granted approval for this study, I began the data collection process. The survey became available online on June 27, 2022, and closed on February 27, 2023. I downloaded raw data from Survey Monkey to SPSS (Version 28) for analysis. The files from SPSS were saved on a file that is password protected.

I recruited study participants recruited via Walden University's Participant Pool, Facebook, and LinkedIn. Survey flyers were posted on Facebook and LinkedIn, and information pertaining to the study was posted on Walden University's Participant Pool. The study's purpose, its benefits, participation requirements, and time needed to participate were included on the flyer. It was also stated that participants would not receive any compensation. Individuals who wanted to participate clicked on a link to the study's consent form. If they chose to participate, they were directed to Survey Monkey to complete the survey. In total, 86 surveys were submitted. However, only 68 surveys were completed, which resulted in a response rate of 79%. Moreover, the power analysis determined that the study required a sample size of 77 participants. The sample size (N= 68) was 88% of the sample size needed for the study.

Before the data were analyzed, I performed data cleaning. I removed information such as the collector number, the respondents' identification number, and the collector identification number from the dataset. I did not collect the IP addresses or the participants' email addresses. I also removed 18 of the surveys from the data set because they were missing data.

A survey comprised of three instruments was used to collect data: The OSCS (Bollinger & Inan, 2012), The Internal Control Index (Duttweiler, 1984), and The Grit Scale (Duckworth et al., 2007). Demographic information at the beginning of the survey provided data for the participants' ages, highest completed level of education, gender, and whether online courses were their preferred instructional format. I inputted raw data from the dataset into SPSS and used multiple linear regression to examine how the continuous predictor variables, perceived connectivity and perceived internal locus of control, and age explained the value of the continuous criterion variable, persistence.

The 25 items for the OSCS were under four subscales: community, comfort, facilitation, and interaction and collaboration. The scores for the responses ranged from one to five. The community subscale included eight questions for a minimum value of eight and a maximum value of 40. The comfort subscale and the facilitation subscale both included six questions for a minimum value of six and a maximum value of 30. The subscale interaction and collaboration included five questions for a minimum value of five and maximum value of 25. The scores were summed in SPSS for the four subscales to obtain the values for the predictor variable, connectivity.

The Internal Control Index is comprised of 28 items. The scores for the Internal Control Index ranged from one to five. The values for these scores ranged from a minimum value of 28 to a maximum value of 140. The scores were summed in SPSS to obtain the values for the predictor variable, internal locus of control. The participants provided demographic information pertaining to their ages. The ages were not organized into age ranges. Individual age values were entered into SPSS to obtain the values for the predictor variable, age.

The Grit Scale is comprised of 12 items. The scores for the Grit Scale ranged from one to five. The values for these scores ranged from a minimum value of 12 to a maximum value of 60. The scores were summed in SPSS to obtain the value for the criterion variable, persistence.

The sample used for the study was not representative of the population under study. I used a convenience sample for the study, which is a type of non-probability sampling. The sample of participants (N = 68) was 88% of the sample size of 77 that was determined by power analysis. Moreover, the data distribution for the participants was skewed toward one completed education level (master's degree) and one gender (females; See Appendix, Table A2, Table A3). Consequently, the study is not externally valid. If a study's findings are externally valid, the findings may generalize to be pertinent to everyday situations (Warner, 2013).

Convenience sampling does not give each of the individuals who are part of the target population an equal chance of participating (Etikan et al.,2016). A probability sampling has a greater chance of being representative (Fritz & Morgan, 2012). For a nonprobability sampling, the extent to which the sample is representative may be difficult to ascertain. In addition, a low response rate may result in a sample that is unrepresentative (Fritz & Morgan, 2012).

### **Multiple Linear Regression Assumptions Testing**

It was necessary to ascertain that the assumptions for multiple linear regression analysis were satisfied. I created scatterplots and histograms and performed calculations to assess the assumptions. First, I verified that the independent and dependent variables relate to each other linearly (Segrin, 2012). I created three scatterplots to assess the linear relationship between each of the three predictor variables, connectivity, internal locus of control, and age, and the criterion variable, persistence. Figures 1, 2, and 3 display three scatterplots with a best fit line that expresses the linear relationship between these variables:

# Figure 1





# Figure 2



Scatter Plot of Persistence by ILOC

# Figure 3

Scatter Plot of Persistence by What is your age?



Next, I verified the homoscedasticity assumption. The homoscedasticity assumption means that for every independent variable's potential value, the residuals' variance predicting *Y* need to be uniform (Segrin, 2012). To assess homoscedasticity, a scatterplot was created that displays the standardized residual against the criterion variable, persistence (Statistics Solutions, 2023). Figure 4 shows that the residuals are close to the best fit line:

# Figure 4



Scatter Plot of Persistence by Standardized Residual

I subsequently assessed the assumption of multicollinearity. Multicollinearity means that predictor variables correlate highly with each other (Warner, 2013). To determine the presence of multicollinearity, I utilized SPSS to calculate the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) for each of the predictor variables. In general, a VIF value that is higher than 10 can be indicative of multicollinearity in the data (Abbott, 2016). The VIF values for the predictor variables presented in Table 1 indicate that multicollinearity was not present in the data.

# Table 1

# Coefficients

Coefficients<sup>a</sup>

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			95.0% Confidence Interval for B		Collinearity Statistics	
Model		B Std. Error		Beta	- t	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Tolerance	VIF
1	(Constant)	30.074	5.572		5.397	<.001	18.943	41.206		
	ILOC	.248	.058	.459	4.290	<.001	.133	.364	.983	1.017
	Connectivity	072	.035	225	-2.074	.042	141	003	.953	1.049
	What is your age ?	075	.042	194	-1.793	.078	159	.009	.966	1.035

a. Dependent Variable: Persistence

Finally, I assessed for multivariate normality, which is an assumption that the residuals have a normal distribution (Abbott, 2016). I tested for this assumption by creating a histogram that showed the standardized residual against frequency. Figure 5 displays a bell-shaped curve, which indicates that the residuals have a normal distribution.

# Figure 5



Histogram of Frequency by Standardized Residual

I also tested for multivariate normality by creating a normal Q-Q plot with a best fit line. The best fit line in Figure 6 shows that the data points are located close to the best fit line.

### Figure 6

Normal Q-Q Plot of Standardized Residual



#### Results

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

The participants for this study were individuals who have completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years. Participants were a minimum of 18 years old. The participants provided demographic information pertaining to their age, highest completed level of education, gender, and whether they preferred online courses as an instructional format. The participants' ages (M = 41.66, SD = 11.43) ranged from 24 years old to 68 years old. The highest percentage of the

participants were 35 years old (n = 8, 11.8%) (See Appendix A, Table A1; Figure A2). Of the total sample (N = 68), a greater percentage of the participants had completed a master's degree (n = 55, 80.9%), whereas (n = 13, 19.1%) had completed a bachelor's degree. Similarly, a greater percentage of the participants were females, (n = 55, 80.9%) while (n = 13, 19.1%) were males (See Appendix A, Table A3). Finally, the majority of participants (n = 61, 89.7%) indicated that they preferred online courses as an instructional format compared to (n = 7, 10.3%) who did not (See Appendix A, Table A4).

I used multiple linear regression to examine how the continuous predictor variables, perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age explained the value of the continuous criterion variable, persistence. I used two instruments, the OSCS and the Internal Control Index, which uses a 5-point Likert scale and a 5-point scale, respectively, to address research question one and research question two. The demographic information provided data for participants' ages. A third instrument, the Grit Scale, also uses a 5-point scale, and provided the data for the criterion variable, persistence. Research questions one, two, and three are as follows:

RQ1: To what extent will perceived connectivity predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_{\theta}$ <sup>1</sup>: Perceived connectivity will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A^{l}$ : Perceived connectivity will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ2: To what extent will perceived internal locus of control predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_0^2$ : Perceived internal locus of control will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A^2$ : Perceived internal locus of control will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

RQ3: To what extent will age predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

 $H_0^3$ : Age will not predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

 $H_A^3$ : Age will predict persistence in online master's degree programs.

Table 2 presents findings which indicates that the predictor variable connectivity, (p = .049) had a statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable persistence. I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 1. The predictor variable internal locus of control (p < .001) had a very statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable persistence. I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 2. The predictor variable age also had a statistically significant relationship (p = .043) with the criterion variable persistence. I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 3.

## Table 2

# **Correlations**

#### Correlations

					What is your age
		Persistence	ILOC	Connectivity	? -
Pearson Correlation	Persistence	1.000	.420	203	209
	ILOC	.420	1.000	.126	.055
	Connectivity	203	.126	1.000	.182
	What is your age ?	209	.055	.182	1.000
Sig. (1-tailed)	Persistence		<.001	.049	.043
	ILOC	.000		.153	.327
	Connectivity	.049	.153		.069
	What is your age ?	.043	.327	.069	
N	Persistence	68	68	68	68
	ILOC	68	68	68	68
	Connectivity	68	68	68	68
	What is your age ?	68	68	68	68

In addition, there was a weak, negative correlation between the predictor variable age (-.209) and the criterion variable persistence. Similarly, there was a weak, negative correlation between the predictor variable connectivity (-.203) and the criterion variable persistence. Conversely, there was a moderate, positive correlation between the predictor variable internal locus of control (.420) and the criterion variable persistence. This suggests that individuals with an internal locus of control may be more likely to persist in their online master's degree program. Age and connectivity, however, may not play as much of a part toward learners persisting toward an advanced degree in an online program.

Table 3 displays the R square value which presents the finding that 27.9% of the variability in the criterion variable, persistence, was explained by the combination of the predictor variables connectivity, internal locus of control, and age. I interpreted the effect size for the regression model by examining the value for the adjusted R square. This value specifies the effect size. It showed that 24.5% of the variability of the criterion variable, persistence, was explained by the combination of the three predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control. Furthermore, the value of the effect size also indicates that 75.5% of the variability of the criterion variable, persistence, was contributed by other factors.

#### Table 3

Model Summary

Model Summary<sup>b</sup>

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
1	.528 <b>*</b>	.279	.245	3.85575	2.094

a. Predictors: (Constant), What is your age ?, ILOC, Connectivity

b. Dependent Variable: Persistence

Table 4 presents the findings of a one-way ANOVA for the regression model. The ANOVA analysis indicates that the regression model was significant F(3, 64) = 8.261, *p*. <.001.

### Table 4

ANOVA

ANOVAa

1 Regress					
1 10081000	non 308.404	3	122.821	8.261	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Residua	al 951.477	64	14.867		
Total	1319.941	67			

a. Dependent Variable: Persistence

b. Predictors: (Constant), What is your age ?, ILOC, Connectivity

The study participants' demographic information specified that the highest level of education they had completed was either a bachelor's degree or a master's degree. I performed an Independent Samples *t*-Test to see if the means varied for the continuous predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between the two completed education levels. These data were used to address Research Question 4, which is as follows:

RQ4: To what extent will the means vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program?

 $H_0^4$ : The means will not vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

 $H_A^4$ : The means will vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program.

I conducted an Independent Samples *t*-Test to determine whether the means varied for the three predictor variables (age, connectivity, and internal locus of control) between the two completed education levels. The findings displayed in Table 5 present the means of the three predictor variables between the two completed education levels, bachelor's degree, and master's degree, respectively. These findings indicate that for the first predictor variable, age, there was a difference between the means ( $M_1 - M_2 = 2.42$ ) of the two completed education levels.

#### Table 5

#### *Group Statistics*

What is the highest level of education you have completed ? (Please choose one) Ν Mean Std. Deviation Std. Error Mean What is your age ? Bachelor's degree 13 43.62 10.634 2.949 55 41.20 1.571 Master's degree 11.648 Connectivity Bachelor's degree 13 85.6923 16.51961 4.58171 Master's degree 55 87.3818 13.37008 1.80282 ILOC 5.70874 Bachelor's degree 13 87.3846 1.58332 Master's degree 55 85.3455 8.69060 1.17184

Group Statistics

Similarly, the standard error of the mean ( $SEM_1 - SEM_2 = 1.378$ ) also differed between the two completed education levels. For the second predictor variable, connectivity, there was also a difference between the means ( $M_1 - M_2 = -1.689$ ) of the two completed education levels. The standard error of the mean ( $SEM_1 - SEM_2 = 2.77889$ ) also differed between the two completed education levels. Moreover, for the third predictor variable, internal locus of control, there was also a difference between the means ( $M_1 - M_2 =$ 2.0391) of the two completed education levels. The standard error of the mean ( $SEM_1 - SEM_2 = 0.41148$ ) also differed between the two completed education levels.

The findings of the Independent Samples *t*-Test for the three predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control were not statistically significant. For the predictor variable, age, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .683, p = .497. For the predictor variable, connectivity, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = -.391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = -.391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = -.391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .804, p = .425. Because of these findings, I failed to reject the null hypothesis for Research Question 4.

In order to determine whether the assumption of homogeneity of variances was violated, I examined the values presented in Table 6 for the Levene's test that was conducted along with the Independent Samples *t*-Test. The significance of the (*F*) statistic for each of the 3 predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control was (p>.05), which indicates that the assumption for homogeneity of variances was met. In other words, it is assumed that the variances are equal (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2015).

# Table 6

Independent Samples Test

# Independent Samples Test

	Levene's Test for Equality of											
	_	Va	nances									
					Significance				Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference		
		F	Sig.	t	df	One-Sided p Two-Sideo	Two-Sided p	Mean Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
What is your age ?	Equal variances assumed	.072	.790	.683	бб	.249	.497	2.415	3.537	-4.647	9.478	
	Equal variances not assumed			.723	19.424	.239	.478	2.415	3.342	-4.568	9.399	
Connectivity	Equal variances assumed	.794	.376	- 391	бб	.348	.697	-1.68951	4.31609	-10.30687	6.92785	
	Equal variances not assumed			343	15.919	.368	.736	-1.68951	4.92364	-12.13150	8.75248	
ILOC	Equal variances assumed	2.341	.131	.804	бб	.212	.425	2.03916	2.53781	-3.02775	7.10607	
	Equal variances not assumed			1.035	26.950	.155	.310	2.03916	1.96980	-2.00289	6.08121	

### Summary

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. Findings from recent studies have shown that 29% of learners in the United States enrolled solely in distance learning courses (Ginder et al., 2018). However, findings from a number of studies have indicated that rates of persistence for courses delivered online continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses delivered face-to-face (Muljana & Luo, 2019).

The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. The study sample (N = 68) consisted of individuals who have completed an online master's degree program within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years. The findings of the multiple regression analysis indicate that 27.9% of the variability in the criterion variable, persistence, was explained by the combination of the predictor variables connectivity, internal locus of control, and age. In addition, the adjusted R square, an effect size, indicates that 24.5% of the variability of the criterion variable, persistence, was explained by the combination of the three predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control. Moreover, the three predictor variables had a statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable, persistence. Accordingly, I rejected the null hypotheses for research questions one, two, and three.

In addition, I conducted an Independent Samples *t*-Test to compare the means of the three predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control, between the two completed education levels, bachelor's degree, and master's degree, respectively. The findings of the *t*-tests were not statistically significant. For the predictor variable, age, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .683, p = .497. For the predictor variable, connectivity, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .425. Because of these findings, I failed to reject the null hypothesis for research question four.

In Chapter five, I will restate the purpose of the study and the rationale for conducting it. I will provide a summary of the study's central findings, discuss how its findings relate to findings in previous literature, and make recommendations for further research. In addition, I will describe how the study may relate to positive social change. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

Persistence has become problematic in distance learning. Ginder et al. (2018) stated that 29% of learners in the United States enrolled solely in online courses. However, findings from various studies have indicated that rates of persistence for courses delivered online continue to be low (Lakhal et al., 2021; Laurie et al., 2020) compared to courses in which instructors and learners interact at the same time and the same place (Muljana & Luo, 2019). Because of this, it has become increasingly important to develop approaches to ameliorate persistence.

The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental study was to examine whether perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age predict persistence in online master's degree programs. The study participants (N = 68) completed a survey comprised of three instruments: Bolliger and Inan's (2012) OSCS, Duttweiler's (1984) Internal Control Index, and the Grit Scale (Duckworth et al., 2007). The participants' demographic information provided data for their ages, highest completed level of education, gender, and whether online courses were their preferred instructional format. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to address research questions one to three. An Independent Samples *t*-Test was used to address research question four.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

I used multiple regression to examine how the continuous predictor variables, perceived connectivity, perceived internal locus of control, and age explained the value of the continuous criterion variable, persistence. Rotter's (1966) locus of control theory, Moore's (1997) transactional distance theory, and Rovai's (2003) composite persistence model provided the theoretical and conceptual frameworks for the study.

Research Question 1 is as follows:

RQ1: To what extent will perceived connectivity predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

The results of the multiple linear regression showed that the predictor variable connectivity (p = .049) had a statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable persistence. Accordingly, I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 1. According to Jamison and Bolliger (2020), study findings have denoted that a high degree of connectedness and interactivity is associated with increased retention as well as learner satisfaction in courses that are offered online. In addition, the authors stated that other study findings have indicated that feeling connected lessens learners' perceptions of isolation and improves academic performance and program completion (Jamison & Bolliger, 2020).

Research Question 2 is as follows:

RQ2: To what extent will perceived internal locus of control predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

The results of the multiple linear regression showed that the predictor variable internal locus of control (p<.001) had a very statistically significant relationship with the criterion variable persistence. Accordingly, I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 2. Findings from previous research studies have indicated that an internal locus of control is predictive of learner persistence and completion in online courses (Lee &

Choi, 2011). In addition, findings from numerous studies have indicated that an internal locus of control correlates positively with persistence in an online setting (Lee et. al., 2013).

Research Question 3 is as follows:

RQ3: To what extent will age predict persistence in online master's degree programs?

The results of the multiple linear regression showed that the predictor variable age also had a statistically significant relationship (p = .043) with the criterion variable persistence. Accordingly, I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 3. In Rovai's composite persistence model, age is one of the learner attributes related to persistence in distance learning. A study conducted by Lakhal et al. (2021) examined various factors, including age, to ascertain whether they have an effect on persistence in postsecondary distance learning courses. Their findings indicated that learners' satisfaction in distance learning courses had a greater effect on persistence among learners who were older and learners who had previous experience with distance learning courses (Lakhal et al., 2021).

Research Question 4 is as follows:

RQ4: To what extent will the means vary for the predictor variables (connectivity, internal locus of control, and age) between individuals who completed either a master's degree program or a bachelor's degree program?

The findings of the Independent Samples *t*-Test for the three predictor variables, age, connectivity, and internal locus of control were not statistically significant. For the

predictor variable, age, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .683, p = .497. For the predictor variable, connectivity, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = -.391, p = .697. For the predictor variable, internal locus of control, the Independent Samples *t*-Test results were as follows: t(66) = .804, p = .425. Because of these findings, I failed to reject the null hypothesis for Research Question 4.

Schroeder et al. (2016) conceptualized connectivity as learners' perceptions of community, as well as involvement, in distance settings. Kaufmann and Vallade (2022) cited Kaufmann et al.'s 2016 study in which learners' connectedness involved their perceived opportunities to communicate with other learners. Kaufmann and Vallade explained that learners are not physically proximate to other learners in online settings. The interactions in such settings necessitate purposive course planning and facilitating.

Armstrong et al. (2021) stated that internal locus of control refers to the idea that the capacity to attain results is attributable to one's behavior. Joo et al. (2011) cited findings from previous studies that, in terms of persistence, learners who have an internal locus of control conclude their studies. Furthermore, Joo et. al stated that earlier study findings suggested that internal locus of control, as well as the degree of support from educational institutions, are pertinent factors relating to learner persistence.

According to Lakhal and Khechine (2021), findings from earlier studies differed on how age or learners' other attributes influence persistence in courses delivered online. Park and Choi (2011) examined whether particular learner attributes, such as gender, age, and level of education, vary among learners who persist, or do not persist, in courses delivered online. Park and Choi related that earlier studies lacked a consensus as to how strongly learner attributes affect decisions to continue, or not continue, in online courses. The findings of Park and Choi's 2011 study indicated that online learners who continued, or did not continue, in online courses, differed in other areas such as how they perceived support (from family and organization) and the relevance of the courses. Such support, along with learner attributes, were shown to be especially predictive of decisions to continue or not continue in online courses.

#### **Limitations of the Findings**

The findings of the study are not generalizable to the population under study. Random sampling, a probability sampling technique, was not utilized to obtain a sample for the study. I used a convenience sample for the study, which is a type of nonprobability sampling. Using stratified random sampling (Fritz & Morgan, 2012) could enhance the possibility of obtaining a sample that is representative of the population being studied. It may be difficult to ascertain the extent to which the sample is representative for a non-probability sampling (Fritz & Morgan, 2012).

Furthermore, the sample of participants (N = 68) was 88% of the sample size of 77 that was determined by power analysis. A low response rate could also result in a sample that is unrepresentative (Fritz & Morgan, 2012). As presented in Appendix A, (Table A2 and Table A3), the data distribution for the participants was skewed toward one completed education level (master's degree) and one gender (females). Consequently, the study was not externally valid. If a study's findings are externally valid, the findings may generalize to be pertinent to everyday contexts (Warner, 2013).

#### Recommendations

For subsequent studies, I would recommend replicating the study in graduate programs across multiple university settings. The inclusion criteria would not change. Adult learners (minimum 18 years old) who have completed an online master's degree within the last 5 years, or individuals who enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last 5 years would be recruited as study participants. However, since the study would include multiple universities, it would be necessary to obtain permission to recruit participants.

Another possible issue to include within the study would be whether the Covid-19 pandemic contributed to attrition in online master's degree programs. In this study, (n = 13, 19.1%) of the participants, enrolled in, but did not complete, an online master's degree program within the last five years. There are myriad reasons that learners do not complete an online advanced degree program. Employment, learner dissatisfaction, and health concerns are all issues that could contribute to attrition in such programs. The Covid-19 pandemic could have been an additional stressor that contributed to learner attrition. Ogunmokun et. al (2022) discussed previous study findings of difficulties that could result in learner attrition online. Issues pertaining to technology and pedagogy frequently impede learning management systems' efficacy, which can possibly result in attrition (Ogunmokun et. al, 2022).

Instead of convenience sampling, stratified random sampling (Fritz & Morgan, 2012) could be used to obtain a suitable sample size for the study. This type of sampling allows researchers to sort the population into strata or groups based on pertinent characteristics (Fritz & Morgan, 2012). Doing so could result in a greater number of participants, a higher response rate, and, perhaps, a more even data distribution relating to participants' genders and completed education levels for the study. Obtaining participants through stratified random sampling across multiple graduate programs could result in findings that generalize to the population under study. In other words, the study would be externally valid.

#### **Positive Social Change Implications**

Low levels of retention are ascribed to lower performance within postsecondary institutions. This can impact such institutions' capacity to obtain government-related funding (Haydarov et al., 2013). In addition, low retention rates in programs negatively affect efforts toward recruiting students and promoting programs (Willging & Johnson, 2004). This study could provide insights that would help researchers, online educators, online course designers, and online program administrators to improve the quality of design practices and pedagogic practices in advanced distance learning degree programs and ameliorate persistence and graduation rates.

Persisting until completion of an advanced online degree program benefits learners and postsecondary institutions, as well as society. Advanced online degree completion promotes positive social change. It enhances the employment prospects of individuals from diverse backgrounds. Moreover, individuals who complete their advanced online degree programs gain the requisite knowledge and skills needed to improve conditions within their communities.

### Conclusions

In contrast to learners in courses offered at the same time and same place, online learners are separated physically (Bollinger & Inan, 2012; Jamison & Bolliger, 2020; Rovai & Wighting, 2005). The rapid growth of distance learning courses, along with their attendant low rates of persistence, is an issue that ought to be highly relevant to learners, educators, and postsecondary institutions (Lakhal et al., 2021). For that reason, connectivity has become integral to distance learning environments. A better understanding of the learner attributes that contribute to persistence in online master's degree programs is central to the continued progression of such programs.

#### References

Abbott, M. L. (2016). Using statistics in the social sciences with SPSS and Excel. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated.

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/waldenu/detail.action? docID=4605618

Armstrong, V. O., Tudor, T. R., & Hughes, G. D. (2021). Course retention in community colleges: Demographics, motivation, learning style, and locus of control.
 *American Journal of Distance Education*, 35(1), 32-47.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2020.1825893

- Assumptions of Multiple Linear Regression. (2023, May 25). Statistics Solutions. <u>https://www.statisticssolutions.com/free-resources/directory-of-statistical-</u> analyses/assumptions-of-multiple-linear-regression
- Banna, J., Lin, M.-F. G., Stewart, M., & Fialkowski, M. K. (2015). Interaction matters:
  Strategies to promote engaged learning in an online introductory nutrition course. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, *11*(2), 249–261. PMID: 27441032;
  PMCIDA PMC4948751.
- Beson, E. (2019). Predicting sense of community among graduate students in a distance learning environment. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(3), 746-753. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.13189/ujer.2019.070314</u>
- Berry, S. (2018). Building community in an online graduate program: Exploring the role of an in-person orientation. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(7), 1673-1687. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3299

- Bigsby, E. (2018). Sampling, nonprobability. In M. Allen (Ed.), The SAGE Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods. SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/ doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411</u>
- Bolliger, D. U., & Halupa, C. (2018): Online student perceptions of engagement, transactional distance, and outcomes. *Distance Education*, 39(3), 299-316. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1080/01587919.2018.1476845</u>
- Bolliger, D. U., & Inan, F. A. (2012). Development and validation of the online student connectedness survey (OSCS). *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 13(3), 41-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v13i3.1171</u>
- Bolliger, D. U., & Martin, F. (2018). Instructor and student perceptions of online student engagement strategies. *Distance Education*, 39(4), 568–583. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1520041
- Cheney, A.W., & Terry, K.P. (2018). Immersive learning environments as complex dynamic systems. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 30(2), 277-289. ISSN 18129129
- Chiyaka, E. T., Sithole, A., Manyanga, F., McCarthy, P. & Bucklein, B. K. (2016).
   Institutional characteristics and student retention: What integrated postsecondary education data reveals about online learning. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 19*(2). <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/</u>
- Clinefelter, D. L. & Aslanian, C. B., (2016). Online college students 2016:Comprehensive data on demands and preferences. The Learning House, Inc.

- Cohen, J. (1992). A Power Primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 1992, 112 (1),155-159. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.112.1.155
- Cole, M. T., Shelley, D. J., & Swartz, L. B. (2014). Online instruction, e-learning, and student satisfaction: A three-year study. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 15(6). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.19173/irrodl.v15i6.1748</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Croxton, R. A. (2014). The role of interactivity in student satisfaction and persistence in online learning. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 10*(2), 314-324. ISSN: 15589528
- Daily-Hebert, A. (2018). Maximizing interactivity in online learning: Moving beyond discussion boards. *Journal of Educators Online*, *15*(3). <u>https://doi.org/</u>

<u>10.9743/jeo.2018.15.3.8</u>

Delahunty, J., Verenikina, I., & Jones, P. (2014). Socio-emotional connections: Identity, belonging and learning in online interactions. A literature review. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 23(2), 243-265. <u>https://doi.org/</u>

<u>10.1080/1475939X.2013.813405</u>

Des Armier, D. Jr. & Bolliger, D.U. (2019) An investigation of graduate students' Internet attitudes and their feelings of connectedness. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 67(2-3), 83-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> 07377363.2019.1664880 Duckworth, A.L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M.D., & Kelly, D.R. (2007). Grit:

Perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *9*, 1087-1101.

- Duttweiler, P. C. (1984). The internal control index: A newly developed measure of locus of control. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 44, 299–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164484442004</u>
- Etikan, I., Musa, S.A., & Alkassim, R.S. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior Research Methods, 41, 1149-1160.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2015). Social statistics for a diverse society (7th ed.). Los Angeles: Sage.
- Fritz, A.E., & Morgan, G.A. (2012). Sampling. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.) Encyclopedia of Research Design. Sage Publications, Inc.

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288

Gallien, T., & Oomen-Early, J. (2008). Personalized versus collective instructor feedback in the online courseroom: Does type of feedback affect student satisfaction, academic performance, and perceived connectedness with the instructor? *International Journal on ELearning*, 7(3), 463-476. ISSN: 15372456

- Garrison, D.R. (2009). Implications of online learning for the conceptual development and practice of distance education. *Journal of Distance Education*, 23(2), 93-104.
  ISSN: 1916-6818
- Gaytan, J. (2015). Comparing faculty and student perceptions regarding factors that affect student retention in online education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 29(1), 56-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2015.994365</u>
- Gardner, M. R., & Elliott, J. B. (2014). The Immersive Education Laboratory:
  Understanding affordances, structuring experiences, and creating constructivist,
  collaborative processes, in mixed-reality smart environments. EAI Endorsed
  Transactions on Future Intelligent Educational Environments, 1(1), e6.
  http://doi.org/10.4108/fiee.1.1.e6
- Gallien, T., & Oomen-Early, J. (2008). Personalized versus collective instructor feedback in the online course room: Does type of feedback affect student satisfaction, academic performance, and perceived connectedness with the instructor? *Internal Journal on E-Learning*, 7(3), 463-476. ISSN: 15372456
- Ginder, S.A., Kelly-Reid, J.E., and Mann, F.B. (2018). Enrollment and employees in postsecondary institutions, Fall 2017; and Financial Statistics and Academic Libraries, Fiscal Year 2017: First Look (provisional Data) (NCES 2019- 021rev).
  U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch">http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch</a>.

Glazer, H.R. & Murphy, J.A. (2015) Optimizing Success: A Model for Persistence in Online Education, American Journal of Distance Education, 29:2, 135-144, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2015.1023093</u>

Glazier, R. (2016). Building rapport to improve retention and success in online classes. Journal of Political Science Education, 12(4), 437-456. <u>https://doi.org/</u> <u>10.1080/15512169.2016.1155994</u>

Gokcearslan, S. & Alper, A. (2015). The effect of locus of control on learners' sense of community and academic success in the context of online learning communities. *Internet and Higher Education*, 27, 64-73.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2015.06.003

- Green, T., Hoffman, M., Donovan, L., & Phuntsog, N. (2017). Cultural communication characteristics and student connectedness in an online environment: Perceptions and preferences of online graduate students. *International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education*; 32(2), 1-27. ISSN: 2292-8588
- Haydarov, R., Moxley, V., & Anderson, D. (2013). Counting chickens before they are hatched: An examination of student retention, graduation, attrition, and dropout measurement validity in an online master's environment. *Journal of College Student Retention*, 14(4), 429-449. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2190/CS.14.4.a</u>
- Hochanadel, A., & Finamore, D. (2015). Fixed and growth mindset in education and how grit helps students persist in the face of adversity. *Journal of International Education Research*, 11(1), 47, Online ISSN: 2158-0987.

Hussey, D.L. (2012). Nonprobability sampling. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Research Design*. Sage Publications, Inc.,

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288

- Jackson, S. (2019). Student questions: A path to engagement and social presence in the online classroom. *Journal of Educators Online*, 16(1), https://doi.org/10.9743/jeo.2019.16.1.6
- Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). II. More than just convenient: The Scientific merits of homogenous convenience samples. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 82(2), 13–30.

http://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296

- Jamison, T.E. & Bolliger, D.U. (2020). Student perceptions of connectedness in online graduate business programs. *Journal of Education for Business*, 95(5), 275-287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2019.1643698</u>
- Joo, Y. J., Joung, S., & Sim, W. J. (2011a). Structural relationships among internal locus
- of control, institutional support, flow, and learner persistence in cyber universities.

*Computers in Human Behavior*, *27*(2), 714–722.

- Joo, Y.J., Lim, K.Y., & Kim, J. (2013) Locus of control, self-efficacy, and task value as predictors of learning outcome in an online university context. *Computers & Education*, 62, 149-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.10.027</u>
- Joyner, S.A., Fuller, M.B., Holzweiss, P.C., Henderson, S., & Young, R. (2014). The importance of student-instructor connections in graduate level online courses. *Journal of Online Learning & Teaching*, 10 (3), 436-445. ISSN: 1558-9528

Kassandrinou, A., Angelaki, C., & Mavroidis, I. (2014). Transactional distance among open university students: How does it affect the learning process? *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning*, 17(1).

https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1018046

Kaufmann, R. & Vallade, J.I. (2022). Exploring connections in the online learning environment: Student perceptions of rapport, climate, and loneliness. *Interactive Learning Environments, 30*(10), 1794-1808.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1749670

- Kear, K., Chetwynd, F., & Jefferis, H. (2014). Social Presence in online learning communities: The role of personal profiles. Research in Learning Technology, 22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v22.19710</u>
- Kuo, Y. C., Walker, A. E., Belland, B. R., & Schroder, K. E. (2013). A predictive study of student satisfaction in online education programs. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 14(1), 16-39.

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v14i1.1338

LaBarbera, R. (2013). The relationship between students' perceived sense of connectedness to the instructor and satisfaction in online courses. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education, 14*(4), 209–220. ISSN 1528-3518

Lakhal, S., & Khechine, H. (2021). Technological factors of students' persistence in online courses in higher education: The moderating role of gender, age and prior online course experience. *Education and Information Technologies*, *26*(3), 3347-3373.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10407-w

- Lakhal, S., Khechine, S., & Mukamurera, J. (2021). Explaining persistence in online courses in higher education: A difference-in-differences analysis. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 18*(19).
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00251-4">https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00251-4</a>
- Laurie, E. C., Kim, J. H., José, P. W., & Rob, L. M. (2020). Predicting and resolving noncompletion in higher (online) education–A literature review. Educational Research Review, 29, 100313
- Laux, D., Luse, A., & Mennecke, B.E. (2016). Collaboration, connectedness, and community: An examination of the factors influencing student persistence in virtual communities Computers in Human Behavior 57,452-464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.046

Lee, Y., & Choi, J. (2011). A review of online course dropout research: Implications for practice and future research. *Educational Technology Research and Development*,

59(5), 593-618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-010-9177-y

- Lee, Y., Choi, J., & Kim. T. (2013). Discriminating factors between completers of and dropouts from online learning courses. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(2), 328-337 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2012.01306.x</u>
- Lee, S.J., & Huang, K. (2018). Online interactions and social presence in online learning. Journal of Interactive Learning Research, 29(1), 113-128. ISSN: 1093-023X
- Lobmeier, J.H. (2012). Nonexperimental designs. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Research Design*. Sage Publications, Inc.,

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288
- Losh, S.C. (2012). Sampling error. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Research Design. Sage Publications, Inc., <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288</u>
- Martin, F. & Bolliger, D.U. (2018). Engagement matters: Student perceptions on the importance of engagement strategies in the online learning environment. *Online Learning*, 22(1), 205- 222. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i1.1092</u>
- Martin, F., Wang, C., & Sadaf, A. (2018). Student perception of helpfulness of facilitation strategies that enhance instructor presence, connectedness, engagement and learning in online courses. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 37, 52–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.01.003</u>
- Martin, F., Wang, C., & Sadaf, A. (2020). Facilitation matters: Instructor perception of helpfulness of facilitation strategies in online courses. *Online Learning*, 24(1), 28-49. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v24i1.1980</u>
- McClannon, T.W., Cheney, A.W., Bolt, L.L., & Terry, K.P. (2018). Predicting sense of presence and sense of community in immersive online learning environments. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 141-159. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i4.1510</u>
- Milman, N.B., Posey, L., Pintz, C., Wright, K., & Zhou, P. (2015). Online master's students' perceptions of institutional supports and resources: Initial survey results.
   Online Learning, 19(4), 45-66. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v19i4.549</u>
- Moore, M. G. (1989). Editorial: Three types of interactions. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 3(2), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923648909526659</u>
- Moore, M. (1997). Theory of transactional distance. (In D. Keegan Ed.) Theoretical principles of distance education (pp. 22-38). New York: Routledge.

- Muljana, P. S. & Luo, T. (2019). Factors contributing to student retention in online learning and recommended strategies for improvement: A systematic literature review. Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 18, 19-57. https://doi.org/10.28945/4182
- Naylor, L.A., & Wilson, L.A. (2009). Staying connected: MPA student perceptions of transactional presence. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 15(3), 317-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15236803.2009.12001563</u>
- Nwankwo, V. (2013). The relationship between faculty perceptions and implementation of elements of transactional distance theory and online web-based course completion rates (Doctoral dissertation). FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations. <u>https://doi.org/10.25148/etd.FI13042504</u>
- Orcutt, J. M., & Dringus, L. P. (2017). Beyond being there: Practices that establish presence, engage students, and influence intellectual curiosity in structured online learning environment. *Online Learning*, 21(3), 15–35.

http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i3.1231

- Oregon, E., McCoy, L., & Carmon-Johnson, L. (2018). Case analysis: Exploring the application of using rich media technologies and social presence to decrease attrition in an online graduate program. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.9743/jeo.2018.15.2.7</u>
- Paul, R. C., Swart, W., Zhang, A. M., & MacLeod, K. R. (2015). Revisiting Zhang's scale of transactional distance: Refinement and validation using structural

equation modeling. Distance Education, 36, 364-382.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2015.1081741

- Perry, D., & Steck, A. (2019). Changes in faculty perceptions about online instruction: Comparison of faculty groups from 2002 and 2016. *Journal of Educators Online*, 16(2), https://www.thejeo.com/archive/2019 16 2~2/perry\_steck
- Padilla Rodriguez, B. & Armellini, A. (2013). Interaction and effectiveness of corporate
  e-learning programmes. Human Resource Development International, *16*(4), 480489, https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2013.803753
- Phirangee, K. (2016) Students' Perceptions of Learner-Learner Interactions that Weaken a Sense of Community in an Online Learning Environment. *Online Learning*, 20(4), 13-33, https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v20i4.1053.
- Phirangee, K., & Malec, A. (2017). Othering in online learning: An examination of social presence, identity, and sense of community. *Distance Education*, 38(2),160–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2017.1322457
- Ragusa, A.T., & Crampton, A. (2018). Sense of connection, identity, and academic success in distance education: Sociologically exploring online learning environments. *Rural Society*, 27(2), 125-142.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10371656.2018.1472914

Reupert, A., Mayberry, D., Patrick, K., & Chittleborough, P. (2009). The importance of being human: Instructors' personal presence in distance programs. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 21(1), 47-56. ISSN 1812-9129

Rhode, J. (2009). Interaction equivalency in self-paced online learning environments: An exploration of learner preferences. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 10(1). Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl /article/view/603/1179

Richardson, J. C., Koehler, A. A., Besser, E. D., Caskurlu, S., Lim, J., & Mueller, C. M. (2015). Conceptualizing and investigating instructor presence in online learning environments. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *16*(3), 256-297, <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v16i3.2123</u>.

Richardson, J.C., Maeda, Y., Lv, J., Caskurlu, S. (2017). Social presence in relation to students' satisfaction and learning in the online environment: A meta-analysis.Computers in Human Behavior, 71, 402-417.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.001

- Rogerson-Revell, P. (2015). Constructively aligning technologies with learning and assessment in a distance education master's programme. *Distance Education*, *36*(1), 129-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2015.1019972</u>
- Rotter, J.B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological monographs: General and applied*, 80 (1), 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0092976</u>
- Rotter, J.B. (1990). Internal versus external control of a variable: A case history of a variable. *American Psychologist*, *45*(4), 489-493. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.45.4.489</u>

- Rovai, A. (2003). In search of higher persistence rates in distance education online programs. *Internet and Higher Education*, 16(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-7516(02)00158-6</u>
- Rovai, A., & Wighting, M. (2005). Feelings of alienation and community among higher education learners in a virtual classroom. *Internet and Higher Education*, 8, 97-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2005.03.001</u>
- Schroeder, S., Baker, M., Terras, K., Mahar, P. & Chiasson, K. (2016). Students' desired and experienced levels of connectivity to an asynchronous, online, distance degree program. *Online Learning*, 20(3), 244-263. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v20i3.691.
- Segrin, C. (2012). Multiple regression. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Research Design. Sage Publications, Inc. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288</u>
- Shaw, M., Burrus, S., & Ferguson, K. (2016). Factors that influence student attrition in online courses. *Online journal of distance learning administration*, 19 (3), 211-230. ISSN: 1556-3847,

https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall193/shaw\_burrus\_ferguson193.html

Shin (2003) Transactional presence as a critical predictor of success in distance learning. *Distance Education*, 24(1), 69-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01587910303048</u>

Singh, V. & Thurman, A. (2019). How many ways can we define online learning? A systematic literature review of definitions of online learning (1988-2018). *American Journal of Distance Education*, 33 (4), 289-306. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2019.1663082

- Smith Jaggars, S., & Xu, D. (2016). How do online course design features influence student performance? Computers & Education, 95, 270-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.01.014
- Sorensen, C. & Donovan, J. (2017). An examination of factors that impact the retention of online students at a for-profit university. *Online Learning*, 21(3), 206-221. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i3.935</u>
- Su, B., Bonk, C. J., Magjuka, R. J., Liu, X., & Lee, S. (2005). The importance of interaction in web-based education: A program-level case study of online MBA courses. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 4(1), 1-18. ISSN:1541-4914, http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/4.1.1.pdf
- Swartzwelder, K., Murphy, J., & Murphy, G. (2019). The impact of text-based and video discussions on student engagement and interactivity in an online course. *Journal* of Educators Online, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.9743/jeo.2019.16.1.13</u>
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition

(2nd ed.).Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. ISBN-0-226-80449-6

- Trespalacios, J., & Lowenthal, P.R. (2019). What do they really like? An investigation of students' perceptions of their coursework in a fully online educational technology program. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 35(5), 60-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.4364</u>
- Trespalacios, J., & Uribe-Florez, L.J. (2020). Developing online sense of community: Graduate students' experiences and perceptions. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 21(1), 57-72. <u>https://doi.Org/10.17718/tojde.690340</u>

- Verdinelli, S., & Kutner, D. (2016). Persistence factors among online graduate students with Disabilities. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 9 (4), 353–368. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0039791</u>
- Warner, R.M. (2013). Applied Statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Waugh, M.L., & Su, J. (2018). Online Student Persistence or Attrition: Observations Related to Expectations, Preferences, and Outcomes. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 16(1), 63-79. ISSN: 1541-4914, http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/16.1.4.pdf
- Willging, P. A., & Johnson, S. D. (2004). Factors that influence students' decision to drop out of online courses. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Network*, 8(4), 105-118. DOI:10.24059/olj.v13i3.1659
- Xiao, J. (2017). Learner-content interaction in distance education: The weakest link in interaction research. *Distance Education*, 38(1), 123–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2017.1298982

# Appendix: Title of Appendix

Table A 1

#### What is your age ?

	N	%
24	2	2 9%
25	- 1	1.5%
26	2	2.9%
28	2	2.0%
29	2	2.0%
30	2	4 4%
31	2	2.9%
32		1.5%
34	3	4.4%
25	0	11 0%
37	2	2 0 %
20		1.5%
20	1	5.0%
40	4	2.9%
40	2	2.970
41	4	5.9%
42	4	0.970
43	1	1.0%
44	1	1.5%
45	2	2.9%
40	2	2.9%
47	1	1.5%
48	2	2.9%
49	1	1.5%
50	1	1.5%
53	1	1.5%
54	1	1.5%
55	4	5.9%
59	2	2.9%
61	1	1.5%
62	1	1.5%
65	1	1.5%
68	3	4.4%





## Table A 2

### What is the highest level of education you

have completed ? (Please choose one)

	N	%
Bachelor's degree	13	19.1%
Master's degree	55	80.9%

## Table A 2

Whatis your gender?

	N	%
Female	55	80.9%
Male	13	19.1%

### Are online courses your preferred

format for instruction?

	И	%
Yes	61	89.7%
No	7	10.3%